ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the management of Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are strongly committed
to high standards of corporate governance which are essential to the stability and sustainability of the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), promotion of corporate transparency, accountability and integrity of the Group, protection of the
interests of the Company’s shareholders (“Shareholders”) and maximisation of long-term shareholder value.
This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices that were in place during the financial year ended 31 December
2017 (“FY2017”) with specific reference made to the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”) issued on 2
May 2012 and takes into consideration the disclosure guide developed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGXST”) in January 2015. Where there are deviations from the Code, appropriate explanations are provided.

PRINCIPLE 1: BOARD MATTERS - THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS
Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively responsible
for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this objective and Management
remains accountable to the Board.

The primary function of the Board is to lead and control the Company by forming an effective working relationship with the management
to achieve this objective as the Board is collectively and ultimately responsible for the long-term success of the Company.
Besides carrying out its statutory responsibilities, the Board’s other roles are to:
i. provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic aims and ensure that the necessary financial and human resources are in place
for the Group to meet its objectives;
ii. establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables the identification, assessment and management of risks,
including safeguarding of Shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;
iii. review management performance;
iv. identify the key stakeholder groups and recognise that their perceptions affect the Group’s reputation;
v. set the Group’s values and standards (including ethical standards), and ensure that obligations to Shareholders and other
stakeholders are understood and met;
vi. consider sustainability issues, for example, environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation; and
vii. provide oversight of the proper conduct of the Group’s business and assume responsibility for corporate governance.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are of the view that they have objectively discharged their duties and responsibilities at
all times as fiduciaries in the interests of the Company.
To assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, various Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee (“AC”), Nominating
Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”) that are headed by Independent Directors, have been established and
delegated with certain functions. The chairman of the respective committees will report to the Board on the outcome of the committee
meetings and their recommendations on the specific agendas mandated to the committees by the Board. Further details of the scope
and functions of the various committees are provided below in this Report.
The Board holds at least four scheduled meetings each year to review and deliberate on the key activities and business strategies of
the Group, including significant acquisitions and disposals, annual budget, financial performance and to endorse the release of the
quarterly and annual financial results. Where necessary, additional meetings are held to address significant transactions or issues
arising from the business operations of the Group.
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The Constitution of the Company provides for directors to conduct meetings by teleconferencing, videoconferencing, audio-visual or
other electronic means of communication. When a physical meeting is not possible, timely communication with members of the Board
can be achieved through electronic means. The Board and Board Committees may also make decisions through circulating resolutions.
The attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board and the Board committees during FY2017 up to the date of this Report is
tabulated below:

Total number of meetings held

Board

Audit
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

3

4

2

3

Number of meetings attended by respective directors
Executive Directors
Dato’ Murly Manokharan

3

2#

2

2#

Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff

3

-

1#

-

3

4

2#

3

Cheah Teik Seng

3

4

2

3

Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia

3

4

2

3

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr Lim Su Kiat
Independent Directors

# By invitation

Material matters which specifically require the Board’s decision or approval include the following corporate matters:
i. Announcement of financial statements;
ii. Interested persons transactions;
iii. Declaration of interim dividends and proposal of final dividends;
iv. Convening of shareholders’ meetings;
v. Change in business direction;
vi. Authorisation of merger and acquisition transactions; and
vii. Authorisation of major transactions.
The Company has documented the guidelines for matters that require the Board’s decision or approval.
The Company will provide a newly-appointed Director guidance and orientation (including management’s presentation) which will allow
such person to understand the Group’s business operations, strategic directions and policies, corporate functions and governance
practices. If necessary, on-site visits to the Group’s local and overseas places of operation will be arranged for a newly-appointed
Director. Upon appointment, a Director will be provided a formal letter which sets out his duties and obligations. If a newly- appointed
Director does not have any prior experience as a director of a listed company, the Company will arrange for such person to undertake
training in the roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed company and to familiarise such person with the relevant rules and
regulations governing a listed company. No new director was appointed since the Company’s listing on the Catalist of the SGX-ST on
28 July 2017.
While the Directors are generally responsible for their own individual training needs, the Company is responsible for arranging and
funding the training of Directors. As such, continuous and on-going training programmes are made available to the Directors from time
to time, such as courses on directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as seminars and talks on relevant subject fields. Dato’ Murly,
Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff and Dr Lim Su Kiat have attended the training in the roles and responsibilities of a Director of a listed company at
the Singapore Institute of Directors on 18 January 2017 while Mr. Cheah Teik Seng and Dato’ Alan Teo have attended the same training
on 17 May 2017 to familiarise themselves with the roles and responsibilities of a Director of a public listed company in Singapore.
The Directors are conscious of the importance of continuing education in areas such as legal and regulatory responsibilities and
accounting issues, so as to update and refresh themselves on matters that may affect their performance as a Board, or as a member of
a Board committee. Accordingly, further training for Directors will extend to relevant new laws, regulations and changing commercial
risks from time to time when appropriate.
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PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate
affairs independently, in particular, from Management and substantial shareholders. No individual or small group of individuals
should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:
Name of Director

Position in the Board

Dato’ Murly Manokharan

Executive Director, President and Group Chief Executive Officer

Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff

Group Executive Director

Mr. Cheah Teik Seng

Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia

Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Lim Su Kiat

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

The Company believes that there should be a strong and independent element on the Board in order for it to exercise objective
judgment on corporate and business affairs. Hence, the Board comprises five Directors, out of whom two are Independent Directors,
one is a Non-Independent and Non-Executive Director and two are Executive Directors, and the AC, the RC and the NC are constituted
in compliance with the Code. The Board has a strong and independent element with two (2) independent Directors that make up to
more than one-third of the Board in compliance with the Code. The Company also believes that the Independent Directors should be
selected for their diverse expertise so that they can provide a balance of views.
As set out under the Code, an independent director is one who has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 10%
Shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent
business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company. The NC deliberates to determine the independence of a Director
bearing in mind the salient factors set out under this guideline in the Code as well as all other relevant circumstances and facts. To
facilitate the NC in its review of the independent status of the Directors, each Independent Director will confirm his independence.
The Executive Directors are considered non-independent. During FY2017, the NC has reviewed and has confirmed the independence
of the Independent Directors in accordance with the Code. There were no Directors who are deemed independent by the Board,
notwithstanding the existence of a relationship as stated in the Code that would otherwise deem him not to be independent.
There are no Independent Directors who has served on the Board beyond nine (9) years from the date of his first appointment.
The NC is of the view that the Board has the requisite blend of expertise, skills and attributes to oversee the Group’s business.
Collectively, they have competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group, such as accounting, corporate finance,
business development, management, sales and strategic planning. In particular, the Executive Directors have many years of experience
in the industry that the Group operates in. The NC considers that the Board’s present size is adequate for effective debate, strategic
decision-making and in exercising accountability to Shareholders and delegating authority to the management, taking into account the
nature and scope of the Group’s operations. As the Group’s activities continue to grow, the NC will continuously review the composition
of the Board so that it will have the necessary competency to be effective.
The Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Directors) provide constructive advice on the Group’s strategic and business
plans. They constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy for the Group. They also review the performance of the
management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance of the Group.
To facilitate more effective checks on management, the Non-Executive Directors will meet as and when necessary without the
presence of the management.
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PRINCIPLE 3: CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executives responsible for
managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a considerable concentration of power.

The Company believes that a clear division of responsibilities between the Non-Executive Chairman and the Group Chief Executive
Officer (“Group CEO”) ensures an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for
independent decision-making. The positions of the Non- Executive Chairman and Group CEO are held by Mr. Cheah Teik Seng and
Dato’ Murly Manokharan respectively and they are not related to each other.
The Chairman’s duties and responsibilities include:
i. leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role;
ii. setting the agenda and ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues;
iii. promoting a culture of openness and debate at the Board;
iv. ensuring that the Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;
v. ensuring effective communication with Shareholders;
vi. encouraging constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and the management;
vii. facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors;
viii. encouraging constructive relations between Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors; and
ix. promoting high standards of corporate governance.
The Group CEO’s duties and responsibilities include:
i. improving, developing, extending, maintaining, advising and promoting the Group’s businesses to protect and further the
reputation, interest and success of the Company and the Group;
ii. undertaking such duties and exercising such powers in relation to the Group and their businesses as the Board shall from time to
time properly assign to or vest in him in his capacity as the Group CEO and all other matters incidental to the same; and
iii. overseeing, formulating and implementing corporate strategies and directions for the affairs of the Group.

PRINCIPLE 4: BOARD MEMBERSHIP
There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors to the Board.

The appointment of new Directors to the Board is recommended by the NC which comprises three (3) Directors, namely, Dato’ Alan Teo
Kwong Chia (Chairman of the NC), Mr Cheah Teik Seng and Dato’ Murly Manokharan. As both Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia and Mr Cheah
Teik Seng are Independent Directors, the NC comprises a majority of independent directors.
The principal functions of the NC, regulated by written terms of reference and undertaken by the NC during FY2017, are as follows:
i. review board succession plans for Directors;
ii. develop a process for evaluation of the performance of the Board, the various Board committees and the Directors;
iii. review the training and professional development programs for the Board;
iv. review, assess and make recommendation to the Board on all Board selection, appointments and re-appointments, taking
into consideration the composition and progressive renewal of the Board and each Director’s competencies, contributions
and performance;
v. review and determine annually the independence of Directors;
vi. decide the assessment process and implement a set of objective performance criteria to be applied from year to year for
evaluation of the Board’s performance; and
vii. evaluate the Board’s effectiveness as a whole and each Director’s contribution to its effectiveness in accordance with the
assessment process and performance criteria adopted, including deciding whether a Director is able to and has been adequately
carrying out his/her duties when he/she has multiple board representations.
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The NC leads the process and makes recommendations to the Board for the selection and approval of appointment of new Directors
as follows:
i. evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board and, in the light of such evaluation and in consultation with
the management, prepares a description of the role and the essential and desirable competencies for a particular appointment;
ii. while existing Directors and the management may make suggestions, seeks external help where necessary to source for
potential candidates;
iii. meets with short-listed candidates to assess their suitability and to ensure that the candidate(s) are aware of the expectations
and the level of commitment required; and
iv. makes recommendations to the Board for approval.
At present, no alternative Director has been appointed to the Board.
Regulations 97 and 98 of the Constitution of the Company provides that one-third of the Directors (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and are eligible for re-election at each
annual general meeting (“AGM”). All Directors are required to retire from office at least once in every three (3) years. Newly appointed
Directors shall hold office only until the next AGM and are eligible for re-election at the AGM pursuant to Regulation 103 of the
Constitution of the Company. Shareholders approve the election and re-election of Board members at the AGM.
The NC assesses and recommends to the Board the retiring directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM, having regard to their
contribution and performance.
The NC has recommended and the Board has agreed for the following directors to retire and seek for re-election at the forthcoming AGM:
a. Dr Lim Su Kiat (retiring under Regulation 97 of the Constitution of the Company);
b. Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff (retiring under Regulation 103 of the Constitution of the Company);
c. Mr. Cheah Teik Seng (retiring under Regulation 103 of the Constitution of the Company); and
d. Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia (retiring under Regulation 103 of the Constitution of the Company).
Dr Lim Su Kiat will, upon re-election as Director, remain as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the AC and
RC. He will be considered non-independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the
SGX-ST (“Catalist Rules”).
Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff will, upon re-election as Director, remain as an Executive Director.
Mr. Cheah Teik Seng will, upon re-election as Director, remain as Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman, Chairman of the
AC and RC and member of the NC. He will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.
Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia will, upon re-election as Director, remain as an Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the NC
and member of the AC and RC. He will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.
The NC determines the independence of Directors in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Code and the declaration form
completed by each Independent Director disclosing the required information.
The NC is of the opinion that the Board has been able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently and that the
Board’s decision making process is not dominated by any individual or small group of individuals.
The NC also determines whether a Director with multiple board representations is able to and has been adequately carrying out his
duties as a Director of the Company. The NC takes into account the results of the assessment of the effectiveness of the individual
Director and the respective Directors’ actual conduct on the Board. The NC is satisfied that all the Directors have been able to and
have adequately carried out their duties as Director notwithstanding their multiple board representations.
The NC and the Board are of the view that there should not be any restriction to the number of board representations that each
Director may take up as multiple board representations do not necessarily hinder the Directors from carrying out their duties. The NC
and the Board are of the view that multiple board representations may be beneficial as these widen the experience of the Directors
and broaden the perspective of the Directors and the Board.
Key information regarding the Directors is disclosed below and under the section on “Board of Directors” in this Annual Report.
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• Member of AC & RC

Independent Director

• Non-Executive Non-

Dr. Lim Su Kiat

22-12- 2016

University, Australia

• Doctor of Philosophy, Monash

Monash University, Australia

• Master of Business (Accounting),

Monash University, Australia

• Bachelor of Business (Accounting),

Harvard Club of Malaysia

• Premier Business Manager Program,

Alumni Club of Malaysia

• Member of AC & RC

• Chairman of NC

• ASEAN Senior Manager Development

Accountants in England and Wales

• Fellow of the Institute of Chartered

University of Manchester, UK

• Bachelor of Science (Honours),

Accountants’

• Association of Certified and Corporate

Management, the Philippines

Programme, Asian Institute of

• Management Development

Nil.

the Company

200,000 ordinary shares in

in the Company

4,360,000 ordinary shares

Vision Group Sdn. Bhd.

College, UK

via shareholding in Aspen

55.65% in the Company

Deemed interest of

Intisari Utama Sdn. Bhd.

via 100% shareholding in

1.15% in the Company

• Programme, Ashridge Management

Program, Harvard Business School

20-06- 2017

20-06-2017

Bhd.; and
2. Deemed interest of

• Management Development

Institute of Management

• Certificate of Membership, British

via 63% shareholding in

University of Technology Malaysia
Aspen Vision Group Sdn.

55.65% in the Company

• Independent Director

Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia

• Member of NC

• Chairman of AC & RC

Chairman of the Board

• Independent Director &

Mr. Cheah Teik Seng

• Group Executive Director

Mushir Ariff

Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin

• Member of NC

Chief Executive Officer

President & Group

30-05-2017

1. Deemed interest of

Project Management,

• Executive Diploma in

22-12-2016

Dato’ Murly Manokharan

• Executive Director,

& related corporations

Shareholding in Company

appointment

& Positions

Academic & Professional Qualifications

Date of first

Name of Director

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

Berhad, Malaysia

• Texchem Resources

Berhad, Malaysia

• PBA Holdings

Executive Officer)

Pte. Ltd. (Chief

Firmus Capital

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

• MJC Investments Corporation,

• Drillsearch Energy Limited, Australia

Public Company Listed, Thailand

• Maybank Kim Eng Securities (Thailand)

• Maybank Cambodia Limited, Cambodia

• Maybank Kim Eng Holdings Ltd, Singapore

• Maybank Investment Bank Berhad, Malaysia

• Malayan Banking Berhad, Malaysia

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

over the preceding three (3) years in other

commitments
listed companies

Directorships and Chairmanships held

Other principal

other listed companies

or Chairmanships in

Current Directorships
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PRINCIPLE 5: BOARD PERFORMANCE
There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board committees and the
contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC has implemented a formal Board evaluation process in assessing the effectiveness of the Board and the various Board
committees. The objective of the annual evaluation is to identify areas for improvement and to implement appropriate action. The
NC did not engage any external facilitator’s services in respect of the evaluation process.
The Directors were requested to complete appraisal forms to assess the overall effectiveness of the Board, and the various Board
committees for FY2017. The results of the appraisal exercise were tabulated, analysed and considered by the NC which then made
recommendations to the Board on areas for improvement, aimed at helping the Board to discharge its duties more effectively.
Although there was no evaluation carried out on the Directors individually, the NC has taken notice of each Director’s attendance
record, participation in meetings and overall performance and contribution to the Board and the Group.
The appraisal process focused on, inter alia, the areas of evaluation on the Board such as Board composition and size, access to
information, Board procedures, Board accountability and standards of conduct.
The appraisal process for the AC encompasses AC composition and size, committee process, accountability, internal controls and
risk management systems and audit process whereas the NC and the RC evaluated the respective committee’s composition and size
and committee process.
The NC is of the view that the Board and its various Board committees have contributed to the overall effectiveness of the Board as a
whole and that the relevant criteria of the performance of the Board and the Board Committees will be maintained from year to year,
subject to such necessary change(s) which is to be justified by the Board.
The Board has met its performance objectives for FY2017.

PRINCIPLE 6: ACCESS TO INFORMATION
In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and timely information prior to board
meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors are provided with complete, adequate and timely information in the form of Board papers and all other relevant materials
prior to each Board and Board committees meetings and at such other time as necessary on an ongoing basis. Information provided
to the Board includes background information relating to the matters to be brought before the Board. Relevant information on material
events and transactions are circulated to the Directors as and when they arise. The Board also receives regular reports pertaining to the
operational and financial performance of the Group with explanations for material variance between budget and actual performance. In
respect of budgets, any material variance between the projections and actual results will be disclosed and explained.
The Board members have separate and independent access to the management, who will provide additional information as may be
needed by the Board to make informed decisions in a timely manner.
The Board members also have separate and independent access to the Company Secretaries. The role of the Company Secretaries is
clearly defined and includes responsibility for ensuring that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations
are complied with. Under the Chairman’s direction, the Company Secretaries should ensure good information flows within the Board
and the Board committees and between the management and non-executive Directors, advising the Board on all governance matters
and facilitating orientation and assisting with professional development as may be required. The Company Secretaries attend all
meetings of the Board and Board committees and minutes of the Board and Board committees are circulated to the whole Board for
review and information.
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The Board is fully involved in and responsible for the appointment and removal of the Company Secretaries.
Where the Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, require professional advice, the management
will assist them in obtaining independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

PRINCIPLE 7: PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The members of the RC comprise entirely of Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheah Teik Seng (Chairman of the RC), Dato’ Alan
Teo Kwong Chia and Dr. Lim Su Kiat. Mr Cheah Teik Seng and Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia are Independent Directors. As such, the RC
comprises a majority of independent directors.
The principal functions of the RC, regulated by written terms of reference and undertaken by the RC during FY2017, include
the following:
i. review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration and specific remuneration package for the Board
and key management personnel covering all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, share-based incentives and benefits-in-kind;
ii. review and ensure that the remuneration policies and practices are sound in that they are able to attract, retain and motivate
without being excessive;
iii. structure an appropriate portion of Executive Directors’ and key management personnel’s remuneration so as to link rewards to
corporate and individual performance so as to align them with the interests of Shareholders and promote the long-term success
of the Group; and
iv. review the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive Directors and key management personnel’s
contracts of service to ensure that the termination clauses are fair and reasonable and not overly generous to avoid rewarding
poor performance.
The RC reviews the framework for remuneration of the Board and the key management personnel and recommends to the Board for
adoption. The RC also determines specific remuneration packages and terms of employment for each Executive Director and key
management personnel.
The RC’s recommendations are submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. All aspects of remuneration, including but not
limited to Director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind for the Board and key management personnel
are covered by the RC.
Each member of the RC will abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration package.
There were no remuneration consultants engaged in FY2017. The RC will if necessary, seek expert advice inside and/or outside the
Company on remuneration matters.

PRINCIPLE 8: LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of the company, and
should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship of the company, and (b)
key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies should avoid paying more than is
necessary for this purpose.

Executive Directors do not receive Directors’ fees. The performance-related elements of remuneration are designed to align interests
of Executive Directors with those of Shareholders and link rewards to the Group’s financial performance.
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The Company had entered into separate service agreement with the Directors in which the terms of their employment are stipulated.
Their initial term of employment is for a period of three (3) years from the date of admission of the Company to the Catalist (being 28
July 2017) and thereafter, their employment is renewed annually subject to termination clauses in the service agreements. The service
agreement may be terminated by giving not less than six (6) months’ prior written notice. Under the service agreements, each of the
Executive Directors is entitled to be paid an incentive bonus annually which is pegged to the financial performance achieved by the
Group for that financial year.
The Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Directors) are paid a base fee. An additional fee is also paid to Non-Executive
Directors for serving on any of the board committees. Such fees are pro-rated if a Director serves for less than one (1) year. The
Directors’ fees are subject to approval by Shareholders at the AGM.
The Company has adopted the AV Employee Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS”) on 19 June 2017 prior to its listing on the Catalist
board of the SGX-ST. The ESOS shall be administered by a committee comprising of members of NC and RC (the “Administration
Committee”) to be formed in due course . The purpose of the ESOS is to provide an opportunity for employees of the Group to participate
in the equity of the Company so as to motivate them towards greater dedication, loyalty and higher standards of performance, and
to give recognition to past contributions and services. Under the rules of the ESOS, the options that are granted may have exercise
prices that are, at the Administration Committee’s discretion, set at the price (“Market Price”) equal to the average of the last dealt
prices for the Company’s ordinary shares (“Shares”) on the Catalist for the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding
the relevant date of grant of the relevant option, or (provided that Shareholders’ approval is obtained in a separate resolution) at a
discount to the Market Price (subject to a maximum discount of 20% or such other percentage or amount as may be determined by
the Administration Committee and as permitted by the SGX-ST). Options which are fixed at the Market Price may be exercisable at
any time by the participant after the first anniversary of the date of grant of that option while options granted at a discount to the
Market Price may only be exercised after the second anniversary from the date of grant of the option. Options granted under the
Scheme will have a life span of ten (10) years. The options may be exercisable in whole or in part, on payment of the exercise price.
Since its adoption till the date of this report, no option has been granted under the ESOS. Accordingly, no Shares have been allotted
on the exercise of options granted under the ESOS.
In addition to the ESOS, the Company has adopted the AV Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”) on 19 June 2017 prior to its listing on
the Catalist board of the SGX-ST. The PSP was implemented to complement the ESOS and to increase the Company’s flexibility and
effectiveness in its continuing efforts to reward, retain and motivate employees to achieve increased performance. No performance
share has been granted under the PSP during the financial year in review and to-date.
In setting remuneration packages, the Company keeps in mind the pay and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies. The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the Company’s long-term interest and risk
policies and appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors and the key management personnel to respectively provide
good stewardship of the Company and manage the Company effectively. If required, the Company will engage professional advice to
provide guidance on remuneration matters.
The RC and Board are of the view that it is currently not necessary to use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim
incentive components of remuneration from the Executive Directors and key management personnel in exceptional circumstances
of misstatement of financial statements, or misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Executive Directors owe
a fiduciary duty to the Company. The Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against the Executive Directors and key
management personnel in the event of such exceptional circumstances or breach of fiduciary duty.

PRINCIPLE 9: DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION
Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure
for setting remuneration, in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration
policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key management personnel,
and performance.

Given the highly competitive condition of the industry that the Group operates in and the sensitivity of remuneration matters, the
Board is of the view that it is not in the best interest of the Company to disclose the full remuneration of the Executive Directors and

69

ASPEN (GROUP) HOLDINGS LIMITED

the key management personnel on a named basis, breakdown of the remuneration of the key management personnel as well as the
aggregate amount of remuneration paid or payable to the key management personnel.
A breakdown showing the level and mix of the remuneration of the Directors paid or payable in respect of FY2017 is as follows:
Base/ Fixed
Salary and EPF1
(%)

Performancerelated income2
(%)

Directors’
Fee 20173
(%)

Benefit-in-Kind
(%)

Total
(%)

S$500,001 up to S$750,000.00 p.a.
15.15

0.00

0.00

100.00

84.17

15.83

0.00

0.00

100.00

Mr. Cheah Teik Seng

0.00

0.00

100.00

0.00

100.00

Dr. Lim Su Kiat

0.00

0.00

100.00

0.00

100.00

Dato’ Alan Teo

0.00

0.00

100.00

0.00

100.00

Dato’ Murly Manokharan

84.85

S$250,001 up to S$500,000.00 p.a.
Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff
S$0 up to S$250,000.00 p.a.

Note:
1. EPF denotes Employees Provident Fund.
2. Bonuses declared for FY2016, paid in FY2017.
3. In respect of FY2017, the amount of Directors’ Fees proposed to be payable to the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Directors) are subject
to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

No Director has been granted the share-based award during FY2017.
The total remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s respective top seven (7) key management personnel (who is not a Director
or CEO) as named under the section on “Profiles of Key Management” in this Annual Report, for FY2017, is below S$250,000 each.
The Executive Directors and key management personnel are not entitled to any benefits upon termination, retirement or postemployment. During FY2017, the Group does not have any employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the CEO.

PRINCIPLE 10: ACCOUNTABILITY
The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position and prospects.

The Board has embraced openness and transparency in the conduct of the Company’s affairs, whilst preserving the interests of
the Group. The Board provides a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects
through announcements of the Group’s quarterly and full-year financial results, and announcements of the Group’s major corporate
developments from time to time. In line with the continuous disclosure obligations under the Catalist Rules, the Board has and will
continue to inform Shareholders promptly of all pertinent information. Such information is disclosed to Shareholders on a timely
basis through SGXNET. All disclosures submitted to the SGX-ST on SGXNET are also made available on the Company’s corporate
website (aspen.sg).
The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is mindful of its obligations to furnish timely information and to ensure full
disclosure of material information to Shareholders in compliance with statutory requirements and the Catalist Rules. The
management provides the Board with the management accounts on a regular basis and as the Board may require from time to time.
Such reports keep the Board informed of the Group’s performance and contain explanation and information to enable the Board to
make a balanced and informed assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.
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PRINCIPLE 11: RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management maintains a sound system of
risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets and should determine
the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

The Board is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal controls to safeguard Shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets. The Board oversees the management in the design, implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal
control systems.
The AC and the Board review on an annual basis the adequacy of the Group’s internal financial controls, operational and compliance
controls, and risk management policies and systems established by the management. The system of internal controls and risk
management established by the Company are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives. The management is involved in regular reviews of the risks that are significant to the fulfilment of the objectives
of the business. However, it should be recognised that such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance, but not an
absolute guarantee against material misstatement or loss.
During FY2017, the Company’s appointed internal auditor, BDO LLP, has conducted internal audit review based on an agreed scope
of review. In respect of FY2017, the Board has received from the Group CEO and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) a letter of assurance
confirming that the Group’s financial records have been properly maintained and the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
FY2017 give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances, and that the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems were sufficiently effective.
Based on (i) the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, (ii) work performed by the internal and external auditors,
(iii) reviews performed by the management, the AC and the Board, and (iv) the aforementioned letter of assurance provided by the
Group CEO and CFO, the Board with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, addressing financial,
operational, compliance and information technology risks, and risk management systems were adequate and effective for FY2017.
The Board notes that no system of internal controls and risk management can provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute
assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other
irregularities. However, the Board, together with the AC and the management, will review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal control framework on an on-going basis and address any specific issues or risks whenever necessary.

PRINCIPLE 12: AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.

The AC comprises three Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheah Teik Seng (Chairman of the AC), Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia and
Dr. Lim Su Kiat. The AC is comprised of a majority of independent directors, including the Chairman of the AC.
All members of the AC have extensive management and financial experience. The Board considers them as having sufficient
financial management knowledge and experience to discharge their responsibilities in the AC.
The AC has full access to, and co-operation from the management, and has full discretion to invite any Director, executive officer or
other persons to attend its meetings. It may require any such Director, officer or other person in attendance to leave the proceedings
(temporarily or otherwise) to facilitate open discussion.
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The duties and responsibilities of the AC are contained in written terms of reference, which are mainly to assist the Board in
discharging its statutory and other responsibilities relating to internal controls, financial and accounting matters, compliance,
business and financial risk management. The duties of the AC include the following:
i.

recommending to the Board on the proposals to Shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;
ii. reviewing the scope, changes, results and cost-effectiveness of the external and internal audit plan and process, and the
independence and objectivity of the auditors;
iii. reviewing the Group’s quarterly and annual financial statements and related notes and announcements relating thereto,
accounting principles adopted, and the external auditors’ report prior to recommending to the Board for approval;
iv. reviewing, evaluating and reporting to the Board at least annually, having regard to input from external and internal auditors,
the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information
technology controls;
v. reviewing the nature, scope, extent and cost-effectiveness of any non-audit services provided by the external auditors and
ensuring that these do not affect the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;
vi. reviewing any significant financial reporting issues and judgments and estimates made by the management, so as to ensure
the integrity of the financial statements of the Group and any announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;
vii. reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function; and
viii. reviewing the interested person transactions reported by the management to ensure that they were carried out on normal
commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of Shareholders.
The AC has met with the internal auditors and external auditors without the presence of the Company’s management to review any
matter that might be raised.
In respect of FY2017, the AC has reviewed the independence of the external auditors, Messrs KPMG LLP and recommended that
Messrs KPMG LLP be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming AGM. In recommending the re-appointment of
the auditors, the AC considered and reviewed a number of key factors, including amongst other things, the adequacy of the resources
and experience of the supervisory and professional staff as well as audit engagement partner to be assigned to the audit, and size
and complexity of the Group and its businesses and operations. The Group has also complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist
Rules in relation to the appointment of its external auditors.
The total fees paid in respect of audit, non-audit and IPO-related fees to the external auditors, Messrs KPMG LLP for FY2017 are as
stated below.
External Auditors Fees for FY2017

RM’000

% of total fees

Total audit fees

1,656

96.8

Total non-audit fees

55

3.2

Total fees paid

1,711

100.0

The AC has reviewed the amount of fees paid for non-audit services to the external auditors and the AC is satisfied that the nature
and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.
The AC has the authority to investigate any matter brought to its attention within its terms of reference, with the authority to engage
professional advice at the Company’s expense.
The AC and the Board are in the midst of putting in place a whistle-blowing policy which will allow employees of the Group and/or any
other persons to raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The AC’s objective
would be to ensure that arrangements are in place for such concerns to be raised and independently investigated, and for appropriate
follow-up action to be taken.
Details of the activities of the AC are also provided under Principles 11 and 13 of this report. In addition to the activities undertaken
to fulfil its responsibilities, the AC is kept abreast by the management, external and internal auditors on changes to accounting
standards, stock exchange rules and other codes and regulations which could have an impact on the Group’s business and financial
statements as well as attending the relevant external training and seminars in respect thereof.
No former partner of director of the Company’s existing auditing firm is a member of the AC.
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PRINCIPLE 13: INTERNAL AUDIT
The company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and independent of the activities
it audits.

The internal audit function is currently outsourced to Messrs BDO LLP, which reports directly to the AC. The AC approves the
appointment, termination, evaluation and compensation of the internal auditors. The internal auditors have unfettered access to all
the Company’s documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the AC.
In the opinion of the Board, Messrs BDO LLP meets the standards set out by both nationally and internationally recognised
professional bodies and is satisfied that the internal auditors are qualified and experienced personnel.
The internal audit plans are reviewed and approved by the AC, to ensure the adequacy of the scope of audit. with the arising audit
outcome presented and reviewed by the management, the AC and the Board.
The AC has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function for FY2017.
The AC will annually review the scope and results of the internal audit and ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced.

PRINCIPLE 14: SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognize, protect and facilitate the exercise of
shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance arrangements.

Shareholders are treated fairly and equitably to facilitate their ownership rights. In line with the continuous disclosure obligations
of the Company, pursuant to the Catalist Rules and Companies Act, the Board’s policy is that Shareholders should be informed in a
comprehensive manner and on a timely basis of all material developments of the Group which would be likely to materially affect the
price or value of the Company’s Shares.
Shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings of Shareholders. They will be informed
of the rules, including voting procedures that govern the general meetings.
The Company allows corporations which provide nominee or custodial services to appoint more than two proxies so that Shareholders
who hold Shares through such corporations can attend and participate in general meetings as proxies.

PRINCIPLE 15: COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to promote regular, effective
and fair communication with shareholders.

Communication with Shareholders is managed by the Board and is facilitated through a professional investors’ relations firms
engaged by the Company, namely Cyrus Capital Consulting.
The Company does not make price-sensitive disclosure to a selected group. All announcements are released via the SGXNET and are
also available on the Company’s corporate website (aspen.sg). Shareholders receive the Annual Report together with the notice of
AGM which is also accessible through the SGXNET. The notice of AGM is also advertised in a local newspaper.
The Company organises regular briefings with the media and analysts, and participates in investor seminars to update the investing
community of the Group’s performance and developments. During such briefings and meetings, the Company solicits feedback from
and addresses the concerns of Shareholders and the investment community.
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The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), which was announced via SGXNET on 7 September 2017. The
Dividend Policy will only come into effect from the financial year ending 31 December 2018. The Board has not declared and
recommended dividends for FY2017 as the Board intends to reserve cash for operations and expansion purposes. The Company will
disclose the reason if dividends are not declared in accordance to the Dividend Policy.

PRINCIPLE 16: CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS
Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders and allow shareholders
the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Board supports the Code’s principle to encourage Shareholders’ participation at general meetings.
The Board encourages Shareholders to attend general meetings to ensure a greater level of Shareholders’ participation and to meet
with the Board and the key management personnel so as to stay informed of the Group’s developments and to raise issues and ask the
Directors or the management questions regarding the Group’s business and operations. The Directors, including the Chairman of the
AC, NC and RC, and the management as well as external auditors will be present at general meetings to address Shareholders’ queries.
Currently, the Constitution of the Company allows a member of the Company to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at
general meetings. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act, a member of the Company who is a relevant intermediary is entitled
to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section
181 of the Companies Act.
The Company practises having separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate issue. The Company also
makes available minutes of general meetings to Shareholders upon their requests.
The Company will conduct voting by poll and an announcement detailing the results, including the total number of votes cast for and
against each resolution and the respective percentages will be announced via SGXNET after the conclusion of the general meeting.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING
In respect of the Sustainability Report, the Company has initiated the process by seeking advice from and consulting with external
parties on the preparation of the Sustainability Report in compliance with Catalist Rule 711B and Paragraph 4.1 of the Sustainability
Reporting Guide. The Company is in the midst of drafting the sustainability practices by, inter alia, identifying and assessing the
material environmental, social and governance factors by taking into consideration their relevance to the business, strategy,
business model and key stakeholders. The Company may, if necessary, consider engaging external parties to assist in preparing the
Sustainability Report.
The Company’s first Sustainability Report will be released by 31 December 2018.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
The Group has implemented appropriate internal guidelines on dealings in the Company’s securities in compliance with the best
practices as set out in Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules. All Directors and staff of the Group are not allowed to trade in the
Company’s securities during the periods commencing two weeks and one month before the announcement of the Company’s
quarterly and full year financial results respectively. To facilitate compliance, reminders are issued to all directors and staff prior
to the applicable trading black-outs. Our directors and staff, who are expected to observe insider trading laws at all times, are also
discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations.
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NON-SPONSOR FEES
Non-sponsor fees amounting to S$2,208,728.60 is paid and/or payable to the Company’s sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance
Pte. Ltd. during FY2017.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Group has procedures governing all Interested Persons Transactions (“IPT”) to ensure that they are properly documented and
reported on a timely manner to the AC and that they are carried out on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.
Save for the IPT as disclosed on pages 195 - 205 of the offer document dated 19 July 2017, there are no other interested person
transactions for FY2017 which are more than S$100,000.
Dato’ Murly and Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff have provided personal guarantees for a loan obtained by a subsidiary from Maybank Islamic
Berhad with a limit of RM10.4 million for the purchase of the Group’s Glenmarie office in Selangor, Malaysia. There is no value at risk
to the Company arising from the personal guarantees provided.
The Company did not obtain any general mandate from Shareholders for interested person transactions pursuant to Rule 920 of the
Catalist Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS
The Company refers to the net proceeds amounting to S$36.72 million (excluding listing expenses of approximately S$3.13 million)
raised from the IPO on the Catalist.
As at 28 February 2018, the said net proceeds have been utilised as follows:
Use of IPO Net Proceeds

Amount allocated (S$’000)

Amount utilised (S$’000)

Balance (S$’000)

25,000

(14,932)

10,068

Repayment of bank borrowings from
CIMB Islamic Bank Berhad

2,000

(2,000)

-

Working capital (consists of payroll payment,
tax payment, repayment of revolving credit
interest and general operational
and administrative expenses)

9,720

(9,720)

-

36,720

(26,652)

10,068

Acquisition of land banks and
future developments

Total:

The above utilisations are in accordance with the intended use of the IPO net proceeds and percentage allocated, as stated in the
Offer Document.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save for those disclosed under the section “Interested Person Transactions” and the service agreement between the Executive
Directors and the Company, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests
of its CEO, Directors or controlling shareholders which are either still subsisting at the end of FY2017 or if not then subsisting,
entered into by the Company during the period under review.
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FINANCIAL REPORT

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for the
period from 22 December 2016 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2017.
In our opinion:
a. the financial statements set out on pages 83 to 128 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the period from 22 December 2016
(date of incorporation) to 31 December 2017 in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and								
b. at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due.
The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.
Directors
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:
Dato’ Murly Manokharan (Executive Director, President and Group Chief Executive Officer)
Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff (Group Executive Director)
Mr. Cheah Teik Seng (Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman)
Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dr. Lim Su Kiat (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

(Appointed on 22 December 2016)
(Appointed on 30 May 2017)
(Appointed on 20 June 2017)
(Appointed on 20 June 2017)
(Appointed on 22 December 2016)

Directors’ interests
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act),
particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial period (including those held by their spouses and infant
children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations (other than wholly-owned
subsidiaries) are as follows:
Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings at date of incorporation/date
of appointment

Holdings at end
of the period

65

126

–

243,721

7
–

–
482,300,000

Dato’ Murly A/L Manokharan
Aspen Vision Group Sdn. Bhd.
• ordinary shares
– interest held
• redeemable preference shares
– interest held
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited
• ordinary shares
– interest held
– deemed interest
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Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings at date of incorporation/date
of appointment

Holdings at end
of the period

20

40

–

71,630

–

482,300,000

–

4,360,000

–

200,000

14

14

–

53,359

3

–

Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff
Aspen Vision Group Sdn. Bhd.
• ordinary shares
– interest held
• redeemable preference shares
– interest held
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited
• ordinary shares
– deemed interest
Mr. Cheah Teik Seng
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited
• ordinary shares
– interest held
Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited
• ordinary shares
– interest held
Dr. Lim Su Kiat
Aspen Vision Group Sdn. Bhd.
• ordinary shares
– interest held
• redeemable preference shares
– interest held
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited
• ordinary shares
– interest held

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial period had interests in shares, debentures,
warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the date of incorporation, or date of appointment if later,
or at the end of the financial period.
There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial period and 21
January 2018.
Except as disclosed under the ‘Share options’ section of this statement, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial period,
was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
Share Options and Share Plans
The AV Employee Share Option Scheme (the Scheme) and AV Performance Share Plan (PSP) of the Company was approved and
adopted by its members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 June 2017.
At the end of the financial year, no administration committee has been formed and no options and awards have been granted.
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Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee during the period and at the date of this statement are:
Mr. Cheah Teik Seng		
Dato’ Alan Teo Kwong Chia		
Dr. Lim Su Kiat			

(Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman)
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of
Corporate Governance.
The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings since the date of incorporation. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with
the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the
Company’s internal accounting control system.
The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:
• assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;
• quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their submission to the
directors of the Company for adoption; and
• interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).
The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has full
authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends
the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board
of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of
the Company.
In appointing our auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant associated companies, we have complied with Rules 712 and
715 of the SGX Listing Manual.
Auditors
Pursuant to a Directors’ Resolution dated on 7 February 2017, KPMG LLP was appointed as auditors of the Company. The auditors,
KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Dato’ Seri Nazir Ariff Bin Mushir Ariff
Director
30 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the period from 22 December 2016 (date
of incorporation) to 31 December 2017, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,
as set out on pages 83 to 128.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the Act”) and Financial Reporting
Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the period from 22 December 2016 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2017.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public
Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Revenue recognition for sale of development properties
(Refer to notes 3.12 and 23 to the financial statements)
RISK:
The Group enters into contracts with customers to deliver specified building units to the customers based on the plans and specifications
as set out in the contracts. In accordance with FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the analysis of whether the contracts
comprise one or more performance obligations, determining whether the performance obligations are satisfied over time and the
methods used to measure progress for revenue recognition where performance obligations are satisfied over time represent areas
requiring critical judgement and estimates by the Group.
There is a broad range of possible outcomes resulting from these judgements that could lead to different revenue and profit being
reported in the consolidated financial statements.
OUR RESPONSE:
We evaluated the Group’s processes over revenue recognition for sale of development properties and assessed the basis for the
identification of performance obligations. We also read the sales and purchase agreements of development properties and discussed
each of the developments with management to obtain an understanding of the specific terms to identify performance obligations.
Also, we assessed whether the criteria are met for recognising revenue over time and the point of revenue recognition.
We assessed the appropriateness of methods and amounts used to measure the progress of the construction of specified building
units by reference to construction costs incurred to date compared to the estimated total construction costs where the performance
obligation is satisfied over time.
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We assessed the adequacy of the estimated total construction costs by comparing them with the actual costs incurred to-date and
discussed with management on the progress of the projects, taking into consideration of any significant deviation in design plans or
potential delay, which may require revision in the estimated total construction costs.
OUR FINDINGS:
We found the basis and methods used for the revenue recognition for sale of development properties to be balanced.
Valuation of development properties
(Refer to notes 3.6 and 8 to the financial statements)
RISK:
The Group has significant development properties held for sale in Penang, Malaysia. Development properties for sale are stated at the
lower of their cost and net realisable values. The determination of the estimated net realisable value of these development properties
is critically dependent upon the Group’s expectations of future selling prices. There is, therefore a risk that the estimated net realisable
value exceeds the future actual selling prices, resulting in losses when the properties are sold.
OUR RESPONSE:
We assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s estimated selling prices of development properties for on-going projects by comparing
them with recent transacted selling prices of the development properties.
OUR FINDINGS:
We found that reasonable estimates were made in the determination of net realisable value.
Valuation of land rights
(Refer to notes 3.4 and 5 to the financial statements)
The Group has land rights with a carrying amount of RM30,468,000 as at 31 December 2017. The land rights are impaired when the
carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of their fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. Estimating the recoverable amount involves significant judgement in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology to be used, and in estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied.
OUR RESPONSE:
We evaluated the independence, objectivity and competency of the independent external valuer. We considered the valuation
methodologies adopted and assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions used by the independent external valuer in deriving
the recoverable amount, against historical rates and available market data, taking into consideration comparable and market factors.
OUR FINDINGS:
We found the independent external valuer to be objective and competent. The valuer is a member of generally recognised professional
bodies for valuers. We found the key assumptions used in the valuation methodology are within the range of market data.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defined as all information in
the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions
of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability
of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.
• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.										
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless the law or regulations preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Karen Lee Shu Pei.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
30 March 2018
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017
Group

Company

Note

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

4

55,541

44,771

–

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land rights

5

30,468

30,782

–

Subsidiaries

6

–

–

151,041

Associates

7

48,700

22,177

–

Deferred tax assets

19

10,550

9,415

–

145,259

107,145

151,041

8

282,726

193,787

–

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Development properties
Contract assets

9

12,407

–

–

Inventories

10

99,703

99,703

–

Trade and other receivables

11

83,717

25,422

–

Cash and cash equivalents

12

139,988

103,383

9,124

Total current assets

618,541

422,295

9,124

Total assets

763,800

529,440

160,165

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

13

217,458

125,099

654

Contract liabilities

14

59,153

139,439

–

Loans and borrowings

15

45,624

73,367

–

4,547

4,126

–

326,782

342,031

654

Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings

15

71,645

45,339

–

Deferred income

18

48,569

84,686

–

Deferred tax liabilities

19

14,256

13,094

–

Total non-current liabilities

134,470

143,119

–

Total liabilities

461,252

485,150

654

168,346

46,272

168,346

EQUITY
Share capital

20

Reserves

21

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

22

117,936

(5,360)

286,282

40,912

159,511

(8,835)

16,266

3,378

–

Total equity

302,548

44,290

159,511

Total equity and liabilities

763,800

529,440

160,165

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2017
Group
Note

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Revenue

23

453,073

99,653

Cost of sales

24

(272,364)

(64,213)

180,709

35,440

1,516

580

Gross profit
Other income
Administrative expenses

(35,992)

(19,206)

Selling and distribution expenses

(14,018)

(10,970)

(243)

(358)

Other operating expenses
Results from operating activities
Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance income/(costs)

131,972

5,486

2,437

1,146

(1,820)

(4,335)

25

617

Profit before tax

26

132,023

2,289

Tax expense

27

(33,727)

(2,687)

Share of results of equity-accounted investees, net of tax

(566)

Profit/(Loss) for the year

98,296

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

(3,189)
(8)

(398)

–

–

98,296

(398)

Owners of the Company

85,408

(306)

Non-controlling interests

12,888

(92)

98,296

(398)

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit/(Loss) for the year representing total comprehensive
income for the year attributable to:

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (sen)

28

11.12

(0.04)

Diluted earnings per share (sen)

28

11.12

(0.04)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Period from 22 December 2016 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2017
Attributable to owners of the Company

Note

Share
capital
RM’000

Other
reserve
RM’000

46,272

1,228

Merger
reserve
RM’000

(Accumulated
losses)/Retained
earnings
RM’000

Noncontrolling
interests
RM’000

Total
RM’000

(4,914)

40,912

3,378

44,290

Total
equity
RM’000

GROUP
At 1 January 2017

(1,674)

Total comprehensive income
for the year
Profit for the year

–

–

–

85,408

85,408

12,888

98,296

Other comprehensive income,
net of tax

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income
for the year

–

–

–

85,408

85,408

12,888

98,296

39,116

–

35,957

–

35,957

–

–

–

128,418

–

128,418

–

–

–

39,116

–

159,962

–

159,962

37,442

80,494

286,282

16,266

302,548

31,218

3,470

34,688

Transaction with owners,
recognised directly in equity
Adjustment pursuant
to restructuring exercise

1.1

Issuance of new shares
pursuant to IPO

(1,931)
128,418

Capitalisation of
listing expenses

(4,413)

(1,228)

(4,413)

–

(4,413)

Total contributions by owners

122,074

At 31 December 2017

168,346

–

36,272

1,228

Loss for the year

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income,
net of tax

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income
for the year

–

–

–

10,000

–

–

–

10,000

–

10,000

Total contributions by owners

10,000

–

–

–

10,000

–

10,000

At 31 December 2016

46,272

1,228

40,912

3,378

44,290

At 1 January 2016

(1,228)

(1,674)

(4,608)

Total comprehensive income
for the year
(306)
–
(306)

(306)
–
(306)

(92)
–
(92)

(398)
–
(398)

Transaction with owners,
recognised directly in equity
Share capital contribution to a
subsidiary accounted for on
common control basis

1.1

(1,674)

(4,914)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017
Group
Note

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

132,023

2,289

5,303

3,269

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs
Finance income
Amortisation of deferred income
Share of results of equity-accounted investees
Property, plant and equipment written off
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Listing expenses
Unrealised loss from downstream income from associate

1,820

4,335

(2,437)

(1,146)

(36,117)

(11,980)

566

8

74

359

(28)
7,996
61

–
–
–

109,261

(2,866)

(67,903)

Changes in:
– development properties

(79,387)

– contract assets

(12,407)

– trade and other receivables

(62,443)

1,421

93,107

52,112

(80,286)

121,146

– trade and other payables
– contract liabilities

–

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

(32,155)

103,910

Tax paid

(27,465)

(10,685)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities

(59,620)

93,225

(20,627)

(14,340)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

2,437

1,146

708

–

Investment in associates

(27,150)

(6,300)

Net cash used in investing activities

(44,632)

(19,494)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Proceeds from share capital contribution

128,418

10,000

Listing expenses

(12,409)

–

(2,764)

(90)

Note
Cash flows from financing activities

Fixed deposit pledged to a financial institution
Proceeds from loans and borrowings

129,811

40,804

Repayment of loans and borrowings

(98,043)

(78,520)

Repayment of finance lease liabilities

(1,484)

(577)

Interest paid

(5,436)

(2,481)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

12

138,093

(30,864)

33,841

42,867

100,421

57,554

134,262

100,421

Significant non-cash transactions
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of
RM22,449,000 (2016: RM15,479,000), of which RM1,822,000 (2016: RM1,139,000) was acquired by means of finance lease arrangements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2018.

1

Domicile and activities
Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 22 December 2016. The
address of the Company’s registered office is 80 Robinson Road #02-00 Singapore 068898.
The financial statements of the Company as at and for the period from 22 December 2016 (date of incorporation) to 31 December
2017 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the
Group’s interest in equity-accounted investees.
The Company was listed on the Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 28 July 2017.
The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 6 to the financial statements. The immediate and ultimate holding company is Aspen Vision Group Sdn. Bhd.,
a company incorporated in Malaysia.

1.1

The restructuring exercise (“Restructuring Exercise”)
The Company was incorporated on 22 December 2016. On the date of incorporation, the Company issued 10 ordinary shares at
RM3.10 per share.
(i) Acquisition of Aspen Vision All Sdn. Bhd. (“AV All”)
The Company entered into a share sale agreement dated 13 June 2017 with the shareholders of AV All and acquired the
entire issued share capital of AV All comprising 6,150,000 ordinary shares for an aggregate consideration of approximately
RM10,130,000. The purchase consideration was arrived at after taking into consideration the net asset value of AV All as at
31 December 2016. This was fully satisfied by the allotment of 1,999,990 new shares in the capital of the Company on 21 June
2017 and the Company became the holding company of AV All.
On 21 June 2017, the Company converted into a public limited company and changed its name to Aspen (Group) Holdings Limited.
The Company entered into a novation agreement dated 21 June 2017 (“Novation Agreement”) in consideration for the
allotment and issue of 34,210,730 ordinary shares by AV All to the Company, and the Company assumed the repayment
obligations of the redeemable convertible unsecured loan stock (“RCULS”) issued by AV All and Aspen Vision Development
Sdn. Bhd. to the RCULS holders.
The Company entered into a capitalisation agreement dated 21 June 2017 and capitalised its obligations under the Novation
Agreement by way of the allotment and issue of 11,000,000 shares in the Company to the RCULS holders.
The Restructuring Exercise was accounted for as a combination of businesses under common control by the shareholders
of the Company, as they controlled the Group entities before and after the Restructuring Exercise. The presentation reflects
the economic substance of the combining companies, which were under common control throughout the relevant period,
as a single economic enterprise, notwithstanding that the Restructuring Exercise was completed on 21 June 2017 (see
note 3.1(iii)).
(ii) Sub-division of shares
On 17 July 2017, 13,000,000 shares in the capital of the Company were split into 689,000,000 shares.
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2

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”).

2.2

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the accounting
policies below.

2.3

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Malaysian ringgit (“RM”), which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial
information presented in RM has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements are included in the following notes:
Note 3.1(i)
Note 23

– Acquisition of equity interest: business combination and asset acquisition
– Revenue recognition

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment
within the next financial year are included in Note 8 – Estimation of allowance for foreseeable losses for development properties.
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities.
The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. The framework includes
a finance team that reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer, and has overall responsibility for all significant fair value
measurement, including Level 3 fair values, where applicable.
The finance team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such
as property valuations or broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the finance team assesses and
documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements
of FRSs, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.
Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group’s Audit Committee.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values
are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
• Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest
level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest).
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The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the
change has occurred.
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 31 – Financial instruments.
2.5

Changes in accounting policies
Early adoption of FRSs
The Group has early adopted FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at the date when common control was established
(see note 1.1(i)). The Group’s accounting policy for revenue recognition is detailed in note 3.12.
Revised standards
The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2017:
• Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to FRS 7);
• Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to FRS 12); and
• Clarification of the scope of FRS 112 (Improvements to FRSs 2016).
Other than the amendments to FRS 7, the adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the current or prior period
and is not likely to affect future periods.
Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to FRS 7)
From 1 January 2017, as a result of the amendments to FRS 7, the Group has provided additional disclosure in relation to the
changes in liabilities arising from financial activities for the year ended 31 December 2017. Comparative information has not
been presented (note 15).

3

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all the periods presented in these financial statements
and have been applied consistently by the Group entities, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses changes in
accounting policies.

3.1

Basis of consolidation
(i) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with FRS 103 Business Combination
as at the date of acquisition, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
The Group measures goodwill at the date of acquisition as:
• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest (“NCI”) in the acquiree; plus
• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the
net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any goodwill that
arises is tested annually for impairment.
When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition and included in the consideration
transferred. If the contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, it is
not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at
fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in
profit or loss.
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When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s employees
(acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is
included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on the marketbased value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to
which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.
NCI that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets, at the date of acquisition. The measurement basis taken is elected on a transaction-bytransaction basis. All other NCI are measured at acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required
by FRSs.
Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs
in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
Adjustments to NCI arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of
the net assets of the subsidiary.
When the Group acquired equity interest in an entity that owns real estate assets. At the time of acquisition, the Group
considered whether the acquisition represents acquisition of a business or acquisition of an asset. The Group accounted for
the acquisition as a business combination when an integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to the real estate assets,
and together, have ability to provide returns to the Group. When the acquisition does not represent a business combination,
it is accounted for as an acquisition of assets.
(ii) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by
the Group. Losses applicable to the NCI in a subsidiary are allocated to the NCI even if doing so causes the NCI to have a
deficit balance.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared to reflect the operations of the Company and
the subsidiaries as a single economic enterprise and consist of those companies under common control since the date
of incorporation.
(iii) Acquisitions from entities under common control
Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the shareholder that
controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative year
presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparatives are restated. The
assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling
shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same
components within Group equity and any gain/loss arising is recognised directly in equity.
(iv) Loss of control
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any NCI and the other components
of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the
Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is
lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending
on the level of influence retained.
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(v) Investments in associates (equity-accounted investees)
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial
and operating policies of these entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds 20% or more of the
voting power of another entity.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. It is recognised initially at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the
accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant
influence ceases.
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the investment,
together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund the investee’s operations or has made payments
on behalf of the investee.
(vi) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equityaccounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
3.2

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Group entities at exchange rate at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is
the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest
and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that their fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign
currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss.

3.3

Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes:
• the cost material and direct labour;
• any other costs directly attributable to bring the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
• when the Group has an obligation to remove the assets or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and
• capitalised borrowing costs.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.
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(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing
of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are assessed
and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.
Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight–line basis over the estimated useful lives of each
component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. Leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in
respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use. Construction-inprogress is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives for the current period and comparative years are as follows:
Building
50 years
Building improvement
10 to 15 years
Sales gallery
4 years
Office and computer equipment, furniture and fittings
3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles
5 years
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
3.4

Land rights
The land rights that are acquired by the Group and have finite lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value. The land rights is amortised when the Group
exercises their right to acquire the land parcels.
Amortisation of land rights is included in the carrying amount of development properties and recognised in ‘cost of sales’ on the
same measure as contracts costs (note 3.6).

3.5

Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

3.6

Development properties
Properties in the course of development (unsold units)/Properties for development
Development properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes acquisition costs, development
expenditure, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributable to the development activities.
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and development of the development property are capitalised as
part of development property during the period of development.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses. The write-downs to net realisable value are presented as allowance for foreseeable losses.
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Contract costs
Commission costs are capitalised if they are incurred to obtain a contract with a customer that the Group would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained, and the costs are expected to be recoverable.
Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly to the contract, generate or enhance resources used in
satisfying the contract and are expected to be recovered.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial measurement, contract costs are amortised to profit or loss using the same measure of progress as the
related contract revenue.
The Group recognises an allowance for foreseeable losses in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
costs exceeds:
• the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive for the sold units; less
• the estimated costs of completion that have not been recognised as expenses.
An impairment loss is reversed if the conditions no longer exist or have improved.
Sold units
The amount represents the unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for work performed to date. The
aggregated costs incurred together with attributable profits and net of progress billings are presented as contract assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, the balance is presented in contract liabilities. Customer
advances in excess of progress billings are presented in trade and other payables.
3.7		 Inventories
Inventories represent tradable quotas approved by the local council in Penang, Malaysia, arising from the Group’s development
of low-medium cost and affordable houses. The cost of the quotas on initial recognition is determined at fair value based on
directors’ estimation using the latest available market information. Subsequently, the quotas are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and selling expenses.
3.8		 Financial instruments
(i) Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the loans and receivables category.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such
assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables, excluding prepayment and
tax recoverable.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise highly liquid short term investment fund, cash balances and short-term deposits with
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair
value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. For the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows, pledged deposits are excluded whilst bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included in cash and cash equivalents.
(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. Financial
liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are recognised at the acquisition date. All other
financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade
date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Other non-derivative financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
These other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.
(iii) Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Preference share capital
Preference share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the issuer’s option, and any
dividends are discretionary. Discretionary dividends thereon are recognised as distributions within equity upon approval by
the Company’s shareholders.
Preference share capital is classified as a financial liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the
shareholders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Non- discretionary dividends thereon are recognised as interest
expense in profit or loss as accrued.
Issue expenses
Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from equity.
(iv) Compound financial instruments
Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise redeemable convertible unsecured loan stocks denominated
in Malaysian ringgit that can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, where the number of shares to be issued
is fixed.
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The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that
does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is recognised initially at the difference between the fair
value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable
transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured
subsequent to initial recognition. Interest and gains and losses related to the financial liability component are recognised
in profit or loss. On conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity; no gain or loss is recognised on conversion.
(v) Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument.
Fair value arising from financial guarantee contracts are classified as deferred income and is amortised to profit or loss using
a straight-line method over the contractual period or, when there is no specified contractual period, recognised in profit or
loss upon discharge of the guarantee. When settlement of a financial guarantee contract becomes probable, an estimate of
the obligation is made. If the carrying value of the financial guarantee contract is lower than the obligation, the carrying value
is adjusted to the obligation amount and accounted for as a provision.
3.9		 Impairment
(i) Non-derivative financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an associate, is assessed at the end
of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired
if objective evidence indicates that a loss event(s) has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss
event(s) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a
debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a
debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers, economic conditions
that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an investment in an equity
security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.
Loans and receivables
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at a specific asset level and collective level. All
individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables
found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
identified. Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping
together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and
the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions
are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables.
Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When the Group considers that there are no realistic prospects
of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
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Associates
An impairment loss in respect of an associate is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its
carrying amount in accordance with note 3.9(ii). An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, development properties and deferred tax
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating units (“CGU”) is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets
or CGUs.
The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. Corporate assets
are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to
which the corporate asset is allocated.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
3.10 Employee benefits
(i)

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which
related services are rendered by employees.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans
if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
3.11 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.
(i) Contingent liabilities
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be established reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3.12 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties.
Sale of development properties
Revenue is recognised when control over the property has been transferred to the customer. The properties have generally no
alternative use for the Group due to contractual restrictions.
For development properties whereby the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, revenue
is recognised based on the percentage of completion of construction. The percentage of completion is measured by reference
to the quantity surveyor/architect’s certification of the estimated construction costs incurred to-date to the estimated total
construction costs. Profits are recognised only in respect of finalised sales contracts to the extent that such profits relate to the
progress of the construction work.
For development properties whereby the Group has no enforceable right to payment until legal title has passed to the customer,
revenue is recognised when the legal title has been transferred to the customer.
The Group grant customers the right to return for certain sales contracts during a grace period. The Group recognises revenue
to the extent that it is highly probable that there will be no returns from customers. Refundable liabilities is classified in trade and
other payables and asset for recovery is classified in development properties.
Revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. Progress billings to the customer are based on a
payment schedule in the contract and are typically triggered upon achievement of specified construction milestones. When
the period between the recognition of revenue and payment by the customer exceeds one year, an adjustment is made to the
transaction price for the time value of money.
3.13 Management fees
Management fees are recognised when services are rendered.
3.14 Government grants – quotas on low-medium cost and affordable housing
The government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. These grants are recognised systematically
in profit or loss as reduction to ‘cost of sales’ based on cost incurred in fulfilling the condition of the grants.
3.15 Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease
when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
3.16 Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using
the effective interest method.
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Finance costs comprise interest expense on finance lease liabilities, redeemable preference shares and loans and borrowings.
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
The actual borrowing costs incurred during the period up to the issuance of the completion certificate less any investment
income on temporary investment of these borrowings, are capitalised in the cost of the properties under development.
Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either finance
income or finance expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.
3.17 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted
for own shares held, and the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
3.18 Taxes
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivables on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty
related to income taxes, if any.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:
• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects,
at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and
whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open
tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax
liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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3.19 Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All
operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available.
3.20 New standards and interpretations not adopted
A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2017 and earlier application is permitted;
however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.
Applicable to financial year 2018
Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
In December 2017, the Accounting Standards Council (“ASC”) issued the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International)
(”SFRS(I)”). SFRS(I) comprises standards and interpretations that are equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) at 31 December 2017 that are applicable for annual
period beginning on 1 January 2018. Singapore-incorporated companies that have issued, or are in the process of issuing, equity
or debt instruments for trading in a public market in Singapore, will apply SFRS(I) with effect from annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018.
The Group’s financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2018 will be prepared in accordance with SFRS(I).
As a result, this will be the last set of financial statements prepared under the current FRS.
In adopting the new framework, the Group will be required to apply the specific transition requirements in SFRS(I) 1 First-time
Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International).
In addition to the adoption of the new framework, the Group will also concurrently apply the following SFRS(I)s, interpretations
of SFRS(I)s and requirements of SFRS(I)s which are mandatorily effective from the same date.
• SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments which includes the amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – Applying IFRS 9
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts issued by the IASB in September 2016;
• requirements in SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment arising from the amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions issued by the IASB in June 2016;
• requirements in SFRS(I) 1-40 Investment Property arising from the amendments to IAS 40 – Transfers of Investment
Property issued by the IASB in December 2016;
• requirements in SFRS(I) 1 arising from the amendments to IFRS 1 – Deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time
adopters issued by the IASB in December 2016;
• requirements in SFRS(I) 1-28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures arising from the amendments to IAS 28
– Measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value issued by the IASB in December 2016; and
• SFRS(I) INT 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.
The Group does not expect the application of the above standards and interpretations to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
SFRS(I) 1
When the Group adopts SFRS(I) in 2018, the Group will apply SFRS(I) 1 with 1 January 2017 as the date of transition for the Group
and the Company. SFRS(I) 1 generally requires that the Group applies SFRS(I) on a retrospective basis, as if such accounting
policy had always been applied. If there are changes to accounting policies arising from new or amended standards effective in
2018, restatement of comparatives may be required because SFRS(I) 1 requires both the opening balance sheet and comparative
information to be prepared using the most current accounting policies. SFRS(I) 1 provides mandatory exceptions and optional
exemptions from retrospective application, but these are often different from those specific transition provisions in individual
FRSs applied to the FRS financial statements. The Group does not expect the application of the mandatory exceptions and the
optional exemptions in SFRS(I) 1 to have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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SFRS(I) 9
SFRS(I) 9 contains new requirements for classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit loss
model for calculating impairment of financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements.
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 will generally be applied by the Group retrospectively,
except as described below.
• The Group plans to take advantage of the exemption in SFRS(I) 1 allowing it not to restate comparative information in the 2018
SFRS(I) financial statements. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from
the adoption of SFRS(I) 9 are recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
Impairment
SFRS(I) 9 replaces the current ‘incurred loss’ model with a forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. The new impairment
model will apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).
Under SFRS(I) 9, loss allowances of the Group will be measured on either of the following bases:
• 12-month ECLs. These are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; or
• lifetime ECLs. These are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The Group plans to apply the simplified approach and record lifetime ECL on all trade receivables and contract assets.
The Group does not expect any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements from the adoption of SFRS(I) 9.
Applicable to financial statements for the year 2019 and thereafter
The following new SFRS(I), amendments to and interpretations of SFRS(I) are effective for annual periods beginning after 1
January 2018:
Applicable to 2019 financial statements
• SFRS(I) 16 Leases
• SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
• Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-28)
• Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and
SFRS(I) 1-28)
The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new SFRS(I)s, amendments to and interpretations of SFRS(I)s
on the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s preliminary assessment of SFRS(I) 16, which is expected to have a more
significant impact on the Group, is as described below.
SFRS(I) 16
SFRS(I) 16 replaces existing lease accounting guidance. SFRS(I) 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019, with early adoption permitted. SFRS(I) 16 eliminates the lessee’s classification of leases as either operating leases or
finance leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model. Applying the new model, a lessee is required to recognise
right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset
is of low value.
The Group plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective in 2019 and expects to apply the standard using the
retrospective approach. The Group also expects the ROU assets recognised at date of initial application to be equal to their
lease liabilities.
The Group is likely to elect the practical expedient not to reassess whether a contract contains a lease at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019. Accordingly, existing lease contracts that are still effective on 1 January 2019 continue to be
accounted for as lease contracts under SFRS(I) 16. The Group has not performed a preliminary assessment of the impact on its
financial statements based on its existing operating lease arrangements.
The approximate financial impact of the standard is unknown due to factors that impact calculation of lease liabilities such as
discount rate, expected term of leases including renewal options and exemptions for short-term leases. The Group will continue
to assess its portfolio of leases to calculate the impending impact of transition to the new standard.
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The Group as lessee
The Group expects its existing operating lease arrangements to be recognised as ROU assets with corresponding lease
liabilities under SFRS(I) 16. The operating lease commitments on an undiscounted basis amount to approximately 1.79% of the
consolidated total assets and 2.97% of consolidated total liabilities. Under the new standard, remaining lease payments of the
operating leases will be recognised at their present value discounted using appropriate discount rate. In addition, the nature
of expenses related to those leases will now change as SFRS(I) 16 replaces the straight-line operating lease expense with
depreciation charge of ROU assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.
The Group as lessor
SFRS(I) 16 substantially carries forward the current existing lessor accounting requirements. Accordingly, the Group continues
to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for these two types of leases using the existing
operating lease and finance lease accounting models respectively. However, SFRS(I) 16 requires more extensive disclosures to
be provided by a lessor.
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At 31 December 2016

–

439

771

1,763

1,832

–

4,805

Depreciation charge
for the year

1,787

1,065

–

5,303

–

–

(26)

–

(801)

At 31 December 2017

(433)

–

(8)

(1,477)

(441)

–
(5,622)

Accumulated
depreciation

89

804

1,558

Write-off

–

–

–

(26)

Disposals

–

–

–

(1)

89

1,243

2,329

At 31 December 2017
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(800)
2,097

–

(82)

9,281
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Building
RM’000

Building
improvement
RM’000

Sales
gallery
RM’000

Office and
computer
equipment,
furniture and
fittings
RM’000

Motor
vehicles
RM’000

Construction-inprogress
RM’000

Total
RM’000

Group
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2016

–

7,507

–

3,432

2,554

19,427

32,920

At 31 December 2016

–

8,951

5,401

5,182

3,224

22,013

44,771

At 31 December 2017

13,297

10,514

3,957

6,231

3,727

17,815

55,541

The net carrying amounts of motor vehicles under finance lease arrangement of the Group amounts to RM3,693,000
(2016: RM3,191,000).
In 2017, adjustments to construction-in-progress arises from reallocation of cost for sales gallery and car park at RM123,000
and RM5,499,000 (2016: RM Nil) respectively, between property, plant and equipment and development properties.
Security
At 31 December 2017, construction-in-progress, building and sales gallery of the Group with carrying amounts of RM17,815,000,
RM13,297,000 and RM3,957,000 respectively (2016: RM22,013,000, RM Nil and RM5,401,000) are pledged as security to secure
bank loans (note 15).

5

Land rights
		
Group

At 1 January
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 December

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

30,782

31,317

(314)
30,468

(535)
30,782

In 2015, the Group acquired the land rights as part of the acquisition of 49% remaining interest in Aspen Vision Land Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Land”) from a joint venture partner. AV Land, through its subsidiary and associate holds the right to acquire 221 acres of
freehold land situated in Bandar Cassia, Batu Kawan, Penang, Malaysia (the “Batu Kawan Land”) from the State Government of
Penang for a pre-determined consideration over a 5-year period.
Amortisation
The amortisation of land rights is allocated to the development properties as part of the land cost and is included in ‘cost of
sales’ as development property is sold.
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6

Subsidiaries
Company
2017
RM’000
Equity investments at cost

151,041

The Company has investments in the following subsidiaries as at the year end:

Name of subsidiaries

Aspen Vision All Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV All”)

Principal place
of business/
Country of
incorporation

Principal activities

Ownership interest
2017
%

2016
%

Malaysia

Investment holding

100

100

Aspen Vision Construction Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Construction”)

Malaysia

General construction

100

100

AG Innovation Sdn. Bhd.
(“AG Innovation”)

Malaysia

IT services

100

100

Aspen Vision Properties Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Properties”)

Malaysia

Investment holding

100

100

Aspen Vision Development Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Development”)

Malaysia

Provision of
management services

100

100

Aspen Vision Development (Central) Sdn. Bhd.
(“AVD Central”)

Malaysia

Investment holding

100

100

Aspen Vision Synergy Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Synergy”)

Malaysia

Property development

100

60

Aspen Vision Realty Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Realty”)

Malaysia

Dormant

100

100

Aspen Vision Homes Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Homes”)

Malaysia

Dormant

100

–

Aspen Vision Land Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Land”)

Malaysia

Investment holding

100

100

Aspen Vision Builders Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Builders”)

Malaysia

Property development

100

100

Aspen Vision Ventures Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Ventures”)

Malaysia

Property development

100

100

Aspen Vision Tanjung Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV Tanjung”)

Malaysia

Property development

100

100

Malaysia

Property development

80

80

Subsidiary of AV All

Subsidiaries of AV Properties

Subsidiaries of AV Development

Subsidiary of AV Land
Aspen Vision City Sdn. Bhd.
(“AV City”)

Other member firm of KPMG International is auditor of significant foreign-incorporated subsidiaries. For this purpose, a subsidiary is considered significant
as defined under the Singapore Exchange Limited’s Listing Manual if its net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated net tangible
assets, or if its pre-tax profits account for 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits.
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7

Associates
		
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Interest in associates

15,925

16,477

Redeemable preference shares in associates

32,775

5,700

48,700

22,177

Redeemable preference shares (“RPS”) in associates are issued by Bandar Cassia Properties (SC) Sdn. Bhd. (“Bandar Cassia”)
at RM26,850,000 (2016: RM5,700,000) redeemable for a period of 5 years and bears dividend of 5.5% and Global Vision Logistics
Sdn. Bhd. (“GVL”) at RM5,925,000 (2016: RM Nil) redeemable for a period of 10 years and bears dividend of 3.5%.
Associates
The Group has 2 (2016: 1) material associates as at 31 December 2017, which are equity accounted for. Details of the material
associates are as follows:
Principal place of
business/
Country of
incorporation

Principal activities

Ownership interest/Voting rights held
2017
%

2016
%

Bandar Cassia*

Malaysia

Investment holding

30

30

GVL#

Malaysia

Warehouse and
logistics solution provider

30

–

* Audited by Deloitte PLT, Malaysia.
#
Has yet to be appointed.
An associated company is considered significant as defined under the Singapore Exchange Limited Listing Manual if the Group’s share of its net tangible
assets represent 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated net tangible assets, or if the Group’s share of its pre-tax profits accounts for 20% or more of the
Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits.

The financial information of the Group’s material associates based on the respective unaudited financial statements and
management accounts, modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences in the Group’s accounting policies
are as follows:
Bandar Cassia
RM’000

GVL
RM’000

Total
RM’000

216

–

216

2017
Revenue
Loss after tax
OCI

(1,887)
–

–
–

(1,887)
–

Total comprehensive income

(1,887)

–

(1,887)

Non-current assets

82,329

–

82,329

Current assets

29,863

20,931

50,794

Non-current liabilities

(95,583)

(19,750)

(115,333)

Current liabilities

(1,634)

(1,144)

(2,778)

Net assets

14,975

37

15,012
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Bandar Cassia
RM’000

GVL
RM’000

Total
RM’000

4,493

11

4,504

Attributable to the Group

(61)

–

Other adjustments

Elimination of unrealised profit

11,418*

64

11,482

(61)

Carrying amount of interest in associate
at the end of the year

15,850

75

15,925

16,477

–

16,477

2017
Group’s interest in net assets of investee
at beginning of the year
Group’s share of:
– Loss after tax
– OCI
– Unrealised loss from downstream income
from associate
– Total comprehensive income
Additions during the year
Carrying amount of interest in investee
at end of the year

(566)
–

–
–

(566)
–

(61)

–

(61)

(627)

–

(627)

–

75

75

15,850

75

15,925

Bandar Cassia
RM’000

Total
RM’000

–

–

(27)

(27)

2016
Revenue
Loss after tax
OCI
Total comprehensive income

–

–

(27)

(27)

Non-current assets

28,036

28,036

Current assets

13,740

13,740

Non-current liabilities

(23,881)

(23,881)

Current liabilities

(1,033)

(1,033)

Net assets

16,862

16,862

5,059

5,059

Attributable to the Group
Other adjustments

11,418*

11,418*

Carrying amount of interest in associate at the end of the year

16,477

16,477

Group’s interest in net assets of investee at beginning of the year

15,885

15,885

Group’s share of:
- Loss after tax

(8)

(8)

- OCI

–

–

- Total comprehensive income

(8)

(8)

Additions during the year
Carrying amount of interest in investee at end of the year

600

600

16,477

16,477

* Other adjustments represent the fair value of land rights acquired by AV Development through the acquisition of 49% remaining interest in AV Land from a
joint venture partner (note 5).
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8

Development properties
		
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

83,646

58,887

Development costs

123,873

57,343

Unsold units

207,519

116,230

57,678

61,653

Property in the course of development
Freehold land

Land costs
Capitalised commission and legal fees
Contract costs for sold units
Total properties in the course of development
Properties for development representing mainly land, at cost
Total

4,011

2,609

61,689

64,262

269,208

180,492

13,518

13,295

282,726

193,787

Finance costs capitalised during the financial years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 was RM3,616,000 and RM4,241,000
respectively. Borrowing costs of the Group have been capitalised at rates ranging from 5.90% to 8.10% and 5.90% to 8.10% per
annum respectively for the financial years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
(i)

Unsold units
The amount relates primarily to cost attributable to the unsold units.
The Group assesses at every reporting date whether any allowance for foreseeable losses is required. The allowance for
foreseeable losses is estimated after taking into account estimated selling prices and estimated total construction costs. The
estimated selling prices are based on recent selling prices for the development project or comparable projects and prevailing
market conditions. The estimated total construction costs are based on contracted amounts and, in respect of amounts not
contracted for, management’s estimates of the amounts to be incurred. Market conditions may, however change, which may
affect the future selling prices and the estimated development expenditure to be incurred, and accordingly, the carrying value
of development properties may have to be written down in future periods. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, no allowance for
foreseeable losses is recognised.

(ii)

Capitalised commission and legal fees
Management expects the incremental commission fees and legal fees incurred as a result of securing sale contracts to be
recoverable. These costs are amortised to profit or loss when related revenue is recognised.
The capitalised commission fees and legal fees amortised in profit or loss for the financial years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016 are RM2,091,000 and RM522,000, respectively.

(iii)

Land costs (sold units)
Land related costs that are attributable to the sold units amounts to RM57,678,000 and RM61,653,000 as at 31 December 2017
and 2016, respectively. These costs are expected to be recoverable and are amortised in profit or loss when the related revenue
are recognised. The land costs amortised in profit and loss for the financial years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are
RM34,792,000 and RM7,460,000, respectively. There was no impairment loss recorded in the period ended 31 December 2017.

(iv)

Asset for recovery
Included in contract cost of sold units are development costs of sales contracts with a right of return of RM4,205,000 (2016:
RM Nil).
Security
At 31 December 2017, the freehold land is charged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 15).

107

ASPEN (GROUP) HOLDINGS LIMITED

9

Contract assets
The amount represents the unbilled amount for work completed to date. The amount is transferred to receivable when the right
to bill becomes unconditional. This typically occurs when the construction milestones are achieved.
Group
2017
RM’000
Sold units
Cost

35,062

Attributable profit

11,694

Progress billing

(34,349)
12,407

Movements in the contract assets during the year are as follows:

Cost
RM’000

Attributable profit
RM’000

Cumulative
progress billing
RM’000

–

–

–

35,062

11,694

–

2017
Balance at 1 January
Revenue recognised during the year
Progress billings during the year
Balance at 31 December

–

–

(34,349)

35,062

11,694

(34,349)

10 Inventories
Group

At 1 January
Additions
At 31 December

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

99,703

96,251

–

3,452

99,703

99,703

			
Inventories represent the tradable low-medium cost and affordable housing quotas approved by the local council in Penang,
Malaysia, arising from the Group’s development of low-medium cost and affordable houses.
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11 Trade and other receivables
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

32,700

56

2

125

193

4,600

Other receivables

17,965

3,453

Deposits

29,090

8,357

79,950

16,591

3,749

4,665

18

4,166

83,717

25,422

Trade receivables
Non-trade amounts due from:
– holding company
– associate

Prepayments
Tax recoverable

The non-trade amounts due from holding company and associate are unsecured, interest-free and payable on demand.
Included in deposits of the Group is an amount of RM27,374,000 and RM7,000,000 as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively,
representing deposits paid for the purchase of land by its subsidiaries.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 31.

12 Cash and cash equivalents
Group

Short term investment fund
Fixed deposits
Cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements
of financial position
Deposit pledged to financial institutions
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
statement of cash flows

Company

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

43,854

13,040

–

5,726

2,962

–

90,408

87,381

9,124

139,988

103,383

9,124

(5,726)
134,262

(2,962)
100,421

–
9,124

		
Short-term investment fund represents investment in fixed income trust which can be redeemed within a period of less than
31 days.
Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group is an amount of RM41,810,000 and RM1,967,000 as at 31 December 2017
and 2016 respectively, where the utilisation is subject to the Housing Developers (Housing Development Account) (Amendment)
Regulation, 2002, Malaysia. These accounts, which consist of monies from purchasers, are for the payment of property
development expenditure incurred. The surplus monies, if any, will be released to respective subsidiaries upon the completion
of property development projects and after all property development expenditure have been fully settled.
Fixed deposits of RM5,726,000 and RM2,962,000 were pledged as securities for bank facilities granted to the Group (note 15) as
at 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively.
The Group’s exposure to credit and interest rate risks related to cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in note 31.
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13 Trade and other payables
Group

Company

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

Trade payables

49,488

9,921

–

Other payables

14,806

3,176

35

– subsidiary

–

–

491

– a related corporation

–

6,000

–

Accrued operating expenses

84,466

32,088

128

Advance payment for transfer of low- medium
cost and affordable housing quotas

Non-trade amounts due to:

60,549

41,605

–

Booking fees received

1,146

32,309

–

Refundable liabilities

7,003

–

–

217,458

125,099

654

Included in trade payables of the Group are retention sums payable amounted to RM22,086,000 and RM3,732,000 as at 31
December 2017 and 2016 respectively.
Non-trade amounts with related parties of the Group and the Company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Advance payment received for transfer of low-medium cost and affordable housing quotas relates to the sale of tradable lowmedium cost and affordable housing quotas approved by the local council in Penang, Malaysia (note 10).
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 31.

14 Contract liabilities
The amount represents the progress billings in excess cost incurred plus recognised profits.
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Cost

(382,498)

(109,079)

Attributable profit

(175,978)

(43,080)

Sold units

Progress billing

110

617,629

291,598

59,153

139,439
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Movements in the contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

Cost
RM’000

Attributable profit
RM’000

As at 1 January 2017

(109,079)

(43,080)

Revenue recognised during the year

(273,419)

(132,898)

Progress billings during the year
As at 31 December 2017

–

–

Cumulative
progress billing
RM’000
291,598
–
326,031

(382,498)

(175,978)

617,629

As at 1 January 2016

(32,885)

(19,621)

70,799

Revenue recognised during the year

(76,194)

(23,459)

Progress billings during the year
As at 31 December 2016

–
(109,079)

–
(43,080)

–
220,799
291,598

			

15 Loans and borrowings
Group
Note

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

767

688

31,342

57,109

Current
Finance lease liabilities
Term loans and bridging loans – secured
Revolving credit – secured

13,515

15,570

45,624

73,367

2,655

2,396

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities
Term loans and bridging loans – secured

59,590

–

RCULS

16

–

33,543

Redeemable preference shares

17

9,400

9,400

71,645

45,339

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follow:

Future minimum
lease payments
RM’000

Interest
RM’000

Present value
of minimum
lease payments
RM’000

2017
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

921

154

767

2,514

251

2,263

411

19

392

3,846

424

3,422

824

136

688

2,589

193

2,396

–

–

–

3,413

329

3,084

2016
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
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2017

2016

Nominal
interest rate
%

Year of maturity

Face
value
RM’000

Carrying
amount
RM’000

Face
value
RM’000

Carrying
amount
RM’000

Finance lease liabilities

2.38 – 3.34

2019 – 2021

3,422

3,422

3,084

3,084

Term loans and bridging loans
– secured

5.90 – 8.35

2018 – 2037

93,811

90,932

60,039

57,109

Revolving credit – secured

6.41 – 7.16

2018

13,515

13,515

15,570

15,570

RCULS

4.50

–

–

–

33,646

33,543

Redeemable
preference shares

8.00

2020 – 2027

9,400

9,400

9,400

9,400

120,148

117,269

121,739

118,706

Group

Securities
The term loans and bridging loans are secured over the freehold land (note 8), fixed and floating charges over certain subsidiaries’
present and future assets, fixed deposits placed by the subsidiaries (note 12), joint and several guarantee by certain directors of
the subsidiaries and corporate guarantees by subsidiaries.
At 31 December 2017, the revolving credit of the Group is secured over fixed and floating charges over a subsidiary’s present and
future assets, pledge of the Company’s shares held by the holding company, deed of assignment of benefits of certain contract
proceeds of its subsidiary, corporate guarantee by its subsidiary and personal guarantee by a director of AV All.
At 31 December 2016, the revolving credit is secured over fixed and floating charges over a subsidiary’s assets and undertakings,
pledge of unquoted shares of a subsidiary, deed of assignment of benefits of certain contract proceeds, joint and several
guarantee by certain directors of the subsidiary and corporate guarantee by a subsidiary.
Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Loan and
borrowings
RM’000

Finance
lease
liabilities
RM’000

72,679

Proceeds from loan and borrowings

129,811

Repayment of loan and borrowings

(98,043)

Balance at 1 January 2017

RCULS
RM’000

Redeemable
preferences
shares
RM’000

Total
RM’000

3,084

33,543

9,400

118,706

–

–

–

129,811

–

Changes from financing cash flows

Payment of finance lease liabilities

–

Interest paid

(5,288)

Total changes from financing cash flows

26,480

–

–

(98,043)

(1,484)

–

–

(1,484)

(148)

–

–

(5,436)

(1,632)

–

–

24,848

–

(33,543)

Other changes
Liability-related
Pursuant to restructuring exercise (note 1.1)

–

–

New finance leases

–

1,822

–

–

1,822

Interest expense

5,288

148

–

–

5,436

Total liability-related other changes

5,288

1,970

–

(26,285)

104,447

3,422

Balance at 31 December 2017
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–

9,400

117,269
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16 Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
2017

2016

Equity
component
RM’000

Liability
component
RM’000

Equity
component
RM’000

Liability
component
RM’000

1,228

33,543

1,228

31,689

(1,228)

(33,543)

–

–

–

2,203

Group
At 1 January
Pursuant to restructuring
exercise (note 1.1)
Finance costs (note 25)

–

–

Interest payable

–

–

–

At 31 December

–

–

1,228

(349)
33,543

On 18 August 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, AV All issued RM18,340,000 of 5-year 1% RCULS at 100% of its
nominal value of RM1 each.
On 21 January 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, AV Development issued RM15,306,000 of 5-year 1% RCULS at
100% of its nominal value of RM1 each to the existing shareholders of the Group.
The main features of the RCULS are as follows:
i) The RCULS are issued in multiples of RM1 each and bears interest at 1% per annum payable annually.
ii) The tenure of the RCULS is five years from the date of first issuance of the RCULS and can be extended for another two years
subject to the mutual consent of the holder of the RCULS (“Maturity Date”).
iii) The RCULS may be converted into new ordinary shares of the issuers at the option of the holders. Any outstanding RCULS
which have not been converted shall automatically subject to redemption on Maturity Date.
iv) Upon conversion of the RCULS into new ordinary shares, such shares shall rank pari passu in all respects with the then
existing ordinary shares of the issuers.
v) Redemption is based on the par value of RM1 each, the coupon remaining unpaid together with the RCULS interest thereon
at the rate of 3.5% per annum over the tenure, within 30 days after the maturity date, if not already converted.
On 21 June 2017, RCULS was novated from AV Development and AV All to the Company. The Company settled these obligations
by way of allotment and issuance of 11,000,000 shares in the Company to RCULS holders (note 1.1).

17 Redeemable preference shares
In 2015, AV City, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, issued redeemable preference shares (“RPS”) to its non-controlling
interests. The RPS is repayable in 2020 and bears dividend of 8% per annum.
The salient features of the RPS are as follows:
(a) The maturity date of the RPS is the day falling five (5) years from the date of issue of the RPS unless the tenure of the RPS,
if permitted by law, is extended by AV City and the RPS holder. If such date is not a business day, then it shall be the next
business day immediately after the said non-business day.
(b) The RPS shall carry the right to receive cumulative preferential dividend out of the distributable profit of AV City, at a dividend
rate of RM8.00 per annum per RPS. No dividends shall be paid on the ordinary shares of AV City unless the dividends on the
RPS have first been paid. The dividends for the RPS shall be payable within 30 days from the close of each financial year end,
and to the extent that the dividends or any part thereof is not paid on the relevant dividend payment date, it shall continue to
accumulate (whether or not there are any distributable reserves). Provided that the first dividend payment shall not be earlier
than the 1st anniversary of the issuance of the RPS. The last dividend payment shall be made on the maturity date.
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(c) The RPS shall not be convertible into or exchangeable for shares of another class of AV City.
(d) The RPS shall rank in priority to any other classes of shares in AV City. No further shares ranking as to dividends or as to
capital in priority to the said RPS shall be created or issued by AV City except with the consent or sanction of the holder of
the said RPS.
(e) AV City may at any time, apply any profit or moneys of AV City which may be lawfully applied for purpose of the redemption
of all or any of the RPS at its issue price during the tenure of the RPS at the option of AV City, where not less than seven (7)
business days’ in writing notice must be given.
At the same time and place so fixed such holders shall be bound to surrender to AV City the certificate of the RPS to be
redeemed and AV City shall pay the amount payable in respect of such redemption and where such certificate comprises any
RPS which have not been drawn for redemption, AV City shall issue to the holders thereof a fresh certificate.
Any remaining RPS not redeemed by AV City or surrendered by the RPS holders at the maturity date shall be automatically
redeemed by AV City at its issue price.
All the provision of the Malaysia Companies Act, 1965 relating to redemption of shares, the premium payable on redemption
(if any), the maintenance of the share premiums account of AV City (if any) as well as the creation or increase where requisite
of the capital redemption reserve shall be duly observed.
(f) The redemption price is at 100% of the RPS’s issue price together with arrears of unpaid dividends up to the date of redemption.
AV City may redeem the RPS on a pro-rate basis at the Redemption Price commencing from the date of issue of the RPS up
to the maturity date, subject to written notice given not less than seven (7) business days.

18 Deferred income
Group

At 1 January
Additions

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

84,686

93,214

–

3,452

Amortisation for the year

(36,117)

(11,980)

At 31 December

48,569

84,686

Government grants
The amount represents tradable low-medium cost and affordable housing quotas approved by the local council in Penang,
Malaysia, arising from the Group’s development of low-medium cost and affordable houses. The quotas are conditional to
the completion of the building of low-medium cost and affordable houses. The grants are recognised as deferred income and
amortised to profit or loss based on the progress of the development.
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19 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes related to the same authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting,
are included in the statements of financial position as follows:
Assets

Liabilities

Net

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

RCULS

–

–

–

Land rights

–

–

(7,980)

(8,390)

(7,980)

(8,390)

Investment in associate

–

–

(2,740)

(2,740)

(2,740)

(2,740)

Group
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
(1,666)

–

(1,666)

Unrealised profits

7,505

3,295

–

–

7,505

3,295

Deferred income

1,971

6,288

–

–

1,971

6,288

–

–

Property, plant and equipment
Tax loss carry-forwards

993

Other items

81
10,550

–
(168)
9,415

(395)

(430)

–

(395)

–

(3,141)
(14,256)

993

132
(13,094)

(430)
–

(3,060)

(36)

(3,706)

(3,679)

The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year are as follows:

At
1/1/2016
RM’000

Recognised
in profit or
loss
RM’000

At
31/12/2016
RM’000

(note 27)

Pursuant to
restructuring
exercise
RM’000

Recognised
in profit or
loss
RM’000

(note 1.1)

(note 27)

At
31/12/2017
RM’000

Group
Deferred tax assets/
(liabilities)
RCULS

(2,194)

528

(1,666)

1,666

–

Land rights

(8,461)

71

(8,390)

–

410

(7,980)

Investment in associate

(2,740)

–

(2,740)

–

–

(2,740)

Unrealised profits
Deferred income
Property, plant
and equipment

–

336

2,959

3,295

–

4,210

7,505

–

6,288

6,288

–

(4,317)

1,971

(194)

(236)

–

35

(395)

Tax loss carry-forwards

615

(615)

–

–

993

993

Other items

(25)

(11)

(36)

–

(3,024)

(3,060)

(3,679)

1,666

(1,693)

(3,706)

(12,663)

8,984

(430)

					
Unrecognised deferred tax asset
Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of the following item:
Group

Tax losses

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

6,434

2,637

Unabsorbed capital allowances

–

40

Other taxable temporary differences

–

(38)

6,434

2,639
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Unutilised tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
unutilised tax losses because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise
the benefits therefrom.

20 Share capital
2017
No. of shares
’000
Company
At date of incorporation 22 December 2016

–*

Pursuant to restructuring exercise (note 1.1)

13,000

Shares split (note 1.1)

689,000

Issue of shares to PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (“Full Sponsor”)

4,348

Invitation shares issued pursuant to initial public offering (“IPO”)

173,270

In issue at 31 December

866,618

* less than 1,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
All issued ordinary shares are fully paid up, with no par value.
Issue of ordinary shares
On 17 July 2017, the shareholders of the Company approved for each existing share of the Company to be split into 53 shares.
Additionally, 4,347,900 ordinary shares were issued to Full Sponsor in relation to listing onto Catalist Board, SGX-ST.
On 27 July 2017, 173,270,000 ordinary shares were issued for the Company’s IPO at SGD0.23 per Invitation Share.

21 Reserves
Group

Other reserve
Merger reserve
Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses)

Company

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

–

1,228

–

(1,674)

–

37,442
80,494

(4,914)

(8,835)

117,936

(5,360)

(8,835)

			
Other reserve
In 2016, other reserve relates to the equity component of the redeemable convertible unsecured loan stocks (note 16).
Merger reserve
Merger reserve represents the difference between the cost of investment and nominal value of share capital of the
merged subsidiaries.
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22 Non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries with material NCI are as follows:
Principal place of business/
Country of incorporation

Ownership interests held by NCI

Name

2017
%

2016
%

AV City

Malaysia

20

20

AV Synergy

Malaysia

–

40

			
On 8 June 2017, the Group fully acquired the remaining equity interest of AV Synergy. Accordingly, the information relating to AV
Synergy is only for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 May 2017.
The following summarises the financial information of the Group’s subsidiaries with material NCI, based on their respective
consolidated unaudited financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition
and differences in the Group’s accounting policies.
2017

2016

AV
Synergy
RM’000

AV City
RM’000

–

Profit/(Loss) after tax

–

OCI

(1)

–

Total comprehensive income

(1)

64,550

64,549

(21)

(421)

(442)

(22)

12,910

12,888

(8)

(84)

(92)

–

–

–

–

–

(22)

12,910

12,888

(8)

(84)

(92)

–

24,399

24,399

–

27,177

27,177

2,988

282,772

285,760

6,228

219,079

225,307

(50,353)

(50,353)

(175,273)

(178,315)

Revenue

Total
RM’000

AV
Synergy
RM’000

AV City
RM’000

Total
RM’000

307,985

307,985

–

53,267

53,267

64,550

64,550

(21)

(1)

–

(421)
–

(442)
–

Attributable to NCI:
Profit/(Loss) after tax
OCI
Total comprehensive income
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

–

–
(3,042)

–
(6,280)

(49,452)

(49,452)

(179,810)

(186,090)

Net assets

(54)

81,545

81,491

(52)

16,994

16,942

Net assets attributable to NCI

(43)

16,309

16,266

(21)

3,399

3,378

Cash flows from operating activities

–

(35,692)

*

65,065

Cash flows from investing activities

–

1,339

–

(8,302)

Cash flows from financing activities

–

664

–

(18,927)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

–

*

37,836

(33,689)

* Less than RM1,000
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23 Revenue
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

436,085

99,653

16,988

–

453,073

99,653

Sale of development properties
– percentage of completion method
– sales of hospital land

		
Critical judgements in identifying performance obligations and measuring progress
Under the terms of the contract, the Group contracted with the customer to deliver a specified building unit to the customer in
accordance with the plans and specifications set out in the contract. The contract includes the specified building unit and an
undivided share in the land and the common property. The analysis of whether the contract comprises one or more performance
obligations, the method used to measure progress for revenue recognition and the amounts to be included as fulfilment cost
represent areas requiring critical judgement by the Group.
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting date.

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to sale of development
properties for contracts that are partially unsatisfied

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

794,673

633,577

The Group expects the full transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts at the reporting date to be recognised as
revenue over the next 1 to 3 years (2016: 2 years).

24 Cost of sales
		
Group
2017
RM’000
Property development expenses
Amortisation of deferred income (note 18)

308,481
(36,117)
272,364
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25 Net finance income/(costs)
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Interest income from short term investment funds

2,437

1,146

Finance income

2,437

1,146

Interest expense on:
Finance lease liabilities
RCULS

(148)
–

(150)
(2,203)

Secured term loans and bridging loans

(3,746)

(4,241)

Revolving credit

(1,542)

(1,168)

Redeemable preference shares
Less: Borrowing cost capitalised under development property
Finance costs
Net finance income/(costs) recognised in profit or loss

–

(814)

(5,436)

(8,576)

3,616

4,241

(1,820)

(4,335)

617

(3,189)

26 Profit before tax
The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax for the year ended:
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

1,656

120

Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company

55

32

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

28

–

377

147

Audit fees paid to auditors of the Company

Management fee income
Listing expenses

(7,996)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(5,303)

Operating lease expense
Property, plant and equipment written off

–
(3,269)

(703)

(413)

(74)

(359)

(13,831)

(9,042)

Employee benefit expense*:
Salaries, bonus and other costs
Contributions to defined contribution plans
Less: Employee benefit expenses capitalised under
property development costs

(1,533)

(1,077)

(15,364)

(10,119)

9,032

8,030

(6,332)

(2,089)

* Employee benefit expense excluding Directors’ remuneration.
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27 Tax expense
Domestic income tax rate for Singapore incorporated company for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 was calculated
at 17% of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdiction was calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions.
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Current year

33,268

6,763

Changes in estimates related to prior years

(1,234)

4,908

Note
Current tax expense

Total current tax expense

32,034

11,671

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

(232)

Changes in estimates related to prior years
Total deferred tax expense

19

(4,635)

1,925

(4,349)

1,693

(8,984)

33,727

2,687

Reconciliation of effective tax rate is as follows:
Group

Profit before tax
Less:
Share of result of equity-accounted investees, net of tax

Income tax using Singapore tax rate 17% (2016: 17%)

2016
RM’000

132,023

2,289

566

8

132,589

2,297

22,540

390

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdiction

9,444

Non-deductible expenses

4,050

Non-taxable income
Tax incentives
Effect of deferred tax assets not recognised

(101)
(3,906)

(358)
1,555
(95)
–

645

683

Changes in estimates related to prior years

691

559

Other items

364

(47)

Total tax expense
		
The tax rate applicable to entities incorporated in Malaysia is at 24% (2016: 24%).		
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28 Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 were based on the profit/(loss) attributable to
ordinary shareholders and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:
Group
2017
RM’000
Profit/(Loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders

2016
RM’000

85,408

(306)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Group

Pre-invitation ordinary shares#
Effect of shares issued pursuant to IPO

#

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

693,348

693,348

74,530

–

767,878

693,348

Pre-invitation ordinary shares has been used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share adjusted for changes in the number of shares
arising from Restructuring Exercise (note 1.1) and shares split and shares issued to Full Sponsor (note 20).

Diluted earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares existing
during the respective years.

29 Operating leases
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
Group

Within one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

707

1,123

1,526

2,115

11,474

11,474

13,707

14,712

		
The Group leases office spaces under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal rights. The leases typically run for a period between 1 to 30 years. Lease payments are increased every
two years to reflect current market rentals.
There are no contingent rents included in operating lease expense for the Group.

30 Commitments
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting dates but not recognised in the financial statements were as follows:
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

63,709

43,213

Construction in progress
- Contracted for but not provided for
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Other commitments
In 2014, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement with a joint venture partner and several other agreements with the
Penang Development Corporation to jointly acquire the Batu Kawan Land for a consideration of RM483,952,000 over a 5-year
period, from the State Government of Penang, Malaysia, for purposes of developing an integrated shopping centre and a mixed
development comprising inter alia residential and office complexes.
As at the reporting date, the Group has contractual commitments to acquire the various land parcels based on acquisition date
as follows:
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

390,483

462,237

51,300

16,288

441,783

478,525

Contracted but not provided for
– Commitment of the subsidiaries
– Commitment of the associate*

* represents the Group’s share

31 Financial instruments
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Market risk
• Liquidity risk
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.
Risk management framework
Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.
The management has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and
the cost of managing the risks. The management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that
an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to
reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.
The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and
procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group
Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of
risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.
Credit risk
As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the
carrying amount presented on the statements of financial position.
Trade and other receivables
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of the specific loss component in respect
of trade and other receivables. The allowance account in respect of trade receivables and other receivables is used to record
impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. At that point, the financial
asset is considered irrecoverable and the amount charged to the allowance account is written off against the carrying amount
of the impaired financial asset. At the reporting date, there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
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Impairment
The ageing of trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and tax recoverable) that were not impaired at the reporting
date was:
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

60,011

16,591

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due 0 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 days

3,419

–

15,851

–

669

–

79,950

16,591

			
The Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of neither past due nor impaired balances as these are
supported by booking fees received and the unimpaired amounts that are past due more than 30 days are still collectible in full,
based on historical payment behaviour and analyses of customer credit risks.
Financial guarantees
A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group has provided RM6,300,000 (2016: RM9,500,000) corporate guarantee to an unrelated
party in respect of performance contract. No liability is expected to arise.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through use of stand-by credit facilities.
The table below highlights the profile of the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows, including the interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:
Carrying
amount
RM’000

Contractual
cash flows
RM’000

Less than
1 year
RM’000

Between 1
and 5 years
RM’000

More than
5 years
RM’000

–

–

Group
31 December 2017
Trade and other payables*

155,763

(155,763)

(155,763)

Loans and borrowings**

107,869

(130,021)

(55,960)

(61,788)

9,400

(11,656)

(752)

(10,904)

273,032

(297,440)

(212,475)

(72,692)

51,185

(51,185)

(51,185)

Redeemable preference shares

(12,273)
–
(12,273)

31 December 2016
Trade and other payables*

–

–

Loans and borrowings**

75,763

(84,139)

(81,549)

(2,590)

–

RCULS

33,543

(40,482)

(336)

(40,146)

–

Redeemable preference shares

9,400

(12,408)

(752)

(11,656)

–

169,891

(188,214)

(133,822)

(54,392)

–

654

(654)

(654)

Company
31 December 2017
Trade and other payables

–

–

		

* Excluding advance payment and booking fees received
** Excluding RCULS and preference shares
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and foreign exchange rates will affect the Group’s
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
Currency risk
The Group’s main operations are in Malaysia where majority of the transactions are primarily denominated in the functional
currency, Ringgit Malaysia. Accordingly, the Group is not exposed to significant currency risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents and
borrowings. The Group does not hedge against this risk.
Profile
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was:
Nominal amount
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

38,501

8,662

(26,337)

(61,597)

12,164

(52,935)

Financial assets

43,854

13,040

Financial liabilities

(90,932)

(57,109)

(47,078)

(44,069)

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

Variable rate instruments

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a
change in interest rates at the reporting dates would not affect profit or loss.
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at the reporting dates would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by
the amounts shown below. There is no effect to the equity. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign
currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for all periods presented.
Profit or loss
Group
100 bp
Increase
RM’000

100 bp
Decrease
RM’000

2017
Variable rate instruments

(471)

471

(441)

441

2016
Variable rate instruments
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Accounting classifications and fair values
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy
are set out below. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value
if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value:
Carrying amount

Note

Loans and
receivables
RM’000

Other
financial
liabilities
RM’000

Fair value

Total
RM’000

Level 1
RM’000

Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

Total
RM’000

Group
2017
Financial assets not measured
at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents

12

139,988

–

Trade and other receivables*
Redeemable preference shares

139,988

11

79,950

–

79,950

7

32,775

–

32,775

252,713

–

252,713

–

–

31,142

31,142

–

–

(3,415)

(3,415)

Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Trade and other payables^

13

–

(155,763)

(155,763)

15

–

(3,422)

(3,422)

Loans and borrowings
– Finance lease liabilities
– Term loans and bridging loans

15

–

(90,932)

(90,932)

–

–

(93,811)

(93,811)

– Revolving credit

15

–

(13,515)

(13,515)

–

–

(13,515)

(13,515)

– Redeemable preference shares

15

–

(9,400)

(9,400)

–

–

(9,896)

(9,896)

–

(273,032)

(273,032)

–

–

5,480

5,480

–

–

(3,091)

(3,091)

2016
Financial assets not measured
at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents

12

103,383

–

103,383

Trade and other receivables*

11

16,591

–

16,591

Redeemable preference shares

7

5,700

–

5,700

125,674

–

125,674

Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Trade and other payables^

13

–

(51,185)

(51,185)

15

–

(3,084)

(3,084)

Loans and borrowings
– Finance lease liabilities
– Term loans and bridging loans

15

–

(57,109)

(57,109)

–

–

(60,039)

(60,039)

– Revolving credit

15

–

(15,570)

(15,570)

–

–

(15,570)

(15,570)

– RCULS

15

–

(33,543)

(33,543)

–

–

(33,640)

(33,640)

– Redeemable preference shares

15

–

(9,400)

(9,400)

–

–

(10,638)

(10,638)

–

(169,891)

(169,891)

		
					
													
* Excluding prepayments and tax recoverable
^ Excluding advance payment and booking fee received 							
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Carrying amount

Note

Loans and
receivables
RM’000

Other
financial
liabilities
RM’000

Fair value

Total
RM’000

Level 1
RM’000

Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

Total
RM’000

Company
2017
Financial assets not measured
at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents

12

9,124

13

–

–

9,124

Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Trade and other payables

(654)

(654)

								
							
Valuation technique
Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring Level 3 fair values, as well as the significant unobservable
inputs used.
Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair
value measurement

Type

Valuation technique

Significant unobservable inputs

Financial assets
– redeemable
preference shares

Discounted cash flows

Discount rate : 6.03%
(2016: 6.43%)

The estimated fair value would
increase/(decrease) if discount rate
was lower/(higher).

Other financial
liabilities*

Discounted cash flows

Discount rate : 5.03% - 6.03%
(2016: 6.43% - 6.78%)

The estimated fair value would
increase/(decrease) if discount rate
was lower/(higher).

*Other financial liabilities include loans and borrowings.

32 Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability as a going concern and to
maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. Capital consists of equity attributable to owners of
the Company.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares, and obtain new borrowings to leverage on lower cost of borrowings versus the Group’s weighted average cost of capital
or sell assets to reduce borrowings.
The Company and its subsidiaries are in compliance with its externally imposed capital requirements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2017.

33 Related party transactions
Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the authorities of the entity. The directors and senior key management are considered as key management personnel
of the Group.
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Key management personnel remuneration comprised:
Group

Directors fee
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits (including contributions
to defined contribution plans)
Benefits-in-kind

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

112

–

4,583

3,763

495

436

33

–

5,223

4,199

Key management personnel transactions comprised:		
Group
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Key management personnel

5,161

5,295

Companies in which directors and key management
personnel have substantial interests

1,955

5,165

Progress billings

Companies in which close family member of key
management personnel have substantial interests

405

1,005

7,521

11,465

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the following
significant transactions took place between the Group and its related parties during the financial year on terms agreed between
the parties concerned:
2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

–

7,000

10,914

7,647

325

49

–

3,000

Holding company
Issuance of redeemable preference shares
Associate
Cost allocation received and receivable
Management fee income
Related corporation
Issuance of redeemable preference shares

34 Contingent liabilities
The Group has been using the Aspen House as its headquarter and office since July 2015. The occupation of Aspen House for
commercial purposes constitutes a material change in the use of premise which was within the location zoned for residential use.
The Group settled the legal suit and paid a fine of RM20,000 in relation to the breach on 6 June 2017.
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35 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. The operating
segments were determined based on the reports reviewed by management.
Management considers that the entire Group’s operation constitute a single segment which is in the business of property
development in Malaysia. Management assessed the performance of the Group’s operations based on the profit before tax,
total assets and total liabilities which are measured in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.

36 Subsequent events
On 15 January 2018, Selangor Agricultural Development Corporation (“PKPS”), an independent unrelated third party, has
accepted a tender from AV Development, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, for the redevelopment of a piece of land in
Seri Kembangan, Selangor.
The redevelopment will be entered via a joint venture agreement (“JVA”) and is estimated to have a gross development value
(“GDV”) of RM300 million in which an expected sum of RM59 million or approximately 20% of GDV will be returned to PKPS. The
redevelopment is expected to complete within four years from date of joint venture agreement.
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